

Geometrical tolerance allocation and optimization using the prismatic polyhedral approach

Sonia C. García Gómez

▶ To cite this version:

Sonia C. García Gómez. Geometrical tolerance allocation and optimization using the prismatic polyhedral approach. Mechanics [physics]. Université de Bordeaux, 2023. English. NNT: 2023BORD0504. tel-04501194

HAL Id: tel-04501194 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04501194

Submitted on 12 Mar 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





THÈSE PRÉSENTÉE

POUR OBTENIR LE GRADE DE

DOCTEUR

DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE BORDEAUX

ÉCOLE DOCTORALE DES SCIENCES PHYSIQUES ET DE L'INGÉNIEUR

SPÉCIALITÉ: MÉCANIQUE ET INGÉNIERIE

Par Sonia C. GARCÍA GÓMEZ

ALLOCATION ET OPTIMISATION DE TOLÉRANCES GÉOMETRIQUES

PAR DES POLYÉDRES PRISMATIQUES

GEOMETRICAL TOLERANCE ALLOCATION AND OPTIMIZATION USING THE PRISMATIC POLYHEDRAL APPROACH

Sous la direction de : **Denis TEISSANDIER** Co-encadrant : **Vincent DELOS**

Soutenue le 22 décembre 2023

Membres du jury :

Directeur de Recherche CNRS Sorbonne Université Président M. NUEL, Gregory M. LINARES, Jean-Marc Professeur des Universités Aix-Marseille Université Rapporteur M. ANWER, Nabil Professeur des Universités Université Paris Saclay Rapporteur Université de Bordeaux M. TEISSANDIER, Denis Professeur des Universités Examinateur M. DELOS, Vincent Université de Bordeaux Ingénieur de Recherche CNRS Invité

Allocation et optimisation de tolérances géométriques par des polyèdres prismatiques

Résumé: Les écarts géométriques et dimensionnels des pièces mécaniques peuvent causer des perturbations nuisibles aux fonctionnalités attendues des systèmes mécaniques. Les spécifications géométriques et dimensionnelles représentent les limites des défauts de fabrication des surfaces fabriquées. La détermination des tolérances n'est pas une tâche aisée car (i) les valeurs des tolérances assignées affectent les fonctionnalités attendues d'un système et le coût de fabrication de ses pièces, et (ii) l'interdépendance des tolérances et des jeux rend complexe leur agrégation dans une résultante.

L'analyse de tolérances et la synthèse de tolérances sont les deux méthodes classiques pour aborder la détermination de la résultante. La synthèse de tolérances est traditionnellement considérée comme un "problème d'optimisation sous contraintes" dans lequel la fonction objectif est généralement une fonction de coût, une fonction de qualité ou de coût-qualité.

Dans le cas des mécanismes hyperstatiques, la complexité de l'interaction des tolérances ne permet pas de décrire la résultante par une fonction analytique. Par conséquent, il est courant d'effectuer une allocation de tolérances au lieu d'une synthèse de tolérances. L'objectif de l'allocation de tolérances est de maximiser les tolérances et les jeux initialement déterminés selon des retours d'expériences ou des connaissances empiriques, en incorporant certaines méthodes heuristiques d'optimisation.

Dans ce travail, nous montrons comment effectuer une allocation de tolérances en utilisant l'approche polyédrique prismatique comme modèle de tolérances et le recuit simulé comme algorithme d'optimisation heuristique. Pour ce faire, certains problèmes intermédiaires sont discutés, tels que la qualité des opérandes versus le temps de calcul. Une méthode de réduction de modèle et un indicateur permettant de quantifier la conformité d'un mécanisme vis-à-vis d'une condition fonctionnelle sont également introduits.

Mots-clés: Allocation de tolérances, analyse de tolérances, optimisation de tolérances, analyse de convergence, mécanismes hyperstatiques, Polyèdre prismatique

Geometrical tolerance allocation and optimization using the prismatic polyhedral approach

Abstract: Geometric and dimensional deviations of mechanical components can cause problems of assemblability and/or functionality of the mechanisms. The geometric and dimensional specifications represent the limits of the manufacturing defects of a given surface. Tolerance specification is not an easy task because (i) the assigned tolerance values affect the functionalities of a system and the manufacturing cost of its parts, and (ii) design tolerances are often interrelated and contribute to a resultant tolerance.

Tolerance analysis and tolerance synthesis are the two typical ways to approach the problem of tolerance design. Tolerance synthesis is traditionally seen as a "constrained optimization problem" in which the objective function is usually a cost function, a quality function or a cost-quality.

In the case of over-constrained mechanisms, the interaction of the tolerances is complex and it is not possible to describe it by means of an analytical function. Hence, it is typical to do tolerance allocation instead of tolerance synthesis. The objective of the tolerance allocation is then to complete or increase the tolerance specification, originally made from experience or empirical knowledge, by incorporating some heuristics or optimization methods.

In this work, we show how to do tolerance allocation using the prismatic polyhedral approach as a tolerance model and the simulated annealing as a heuristic optimization algorithm. In order to do this, some intermediate problems are discussed, such as (i) quality of the operands, (ii) computational time required to do a simulation and we also develop (iii) an indicator to quantify the compliance of a mechanism with its functional condition. **Keywords:** Tolerance allocation, tolerance analysis, tolerance optimization, convergence analysis, over-constrained mechanisms, prismatic, polyhedron

Acknowledgements

Today I write this letter of acknowledgements in the hope that it will be a testament to my experiences over the past years. Initially, I did not want it to be about me, but rather about the people around me. However, I would like to let my emotions flow and use this as a cathartic way to express everything, and hopefully it will allow me to show my gratitude to everyone who was directly or indirectly involved in this entire process.

I used to think that I had been extremely lucky in life. I always got to do what I wanted and how I wanted, always receiving the right support and good opportunities. How many people can say the same? Don't get me wrong, it doesn't mean it has been easy or completely free of challenges to get here. However, I'm thankful for all the people that have been around and that have helped me to make all of this possible.

Growing up, my parents, despite our limited resources, always went above and beyond to ensure my brother and I had everything we needed, and often more. Words can't express how grateful I am to them, and I often feel I haven't shown it enough. Both Mom and Dad were always present in my life, through ups and downs. Whether I was happy or sad, they made sure to be there for me. Even when they didn't have all the answers or they did not understand, their presence was a constant source of comfort and support.

My parents worked as "mayordomos" on a farm, and thanks to their jobs, I had the incredible fortune of growing up surrounded by an amazing group of people who became like family to me. Doña Lucia, who is like a grandmother to me, is someone I always hold close to my heart. I recall the hours spent with her, watching her create amazing paintings, listening to music, or simply exploring every corner of the farm. Julian, Diego, Gloria, Ana, Mary, and Nora became like aunts and uncles, always offering their support through life's ups and downs. They were always there for me, even patiently explaining things or helping me search for solutions when I couldn't find them myself.

My brother, Camilo, has always been a source of inspiration and someone I look up to. While we've both taken different paths and grown in different directions, he has always been there to support and encourage me. I can't express how much his support means to me. And I hope he knows he can count on me too...

In general, to my family, including my grandparents, uncles, and aunts. Your presence, even from afar, has profoundly shaped my growth and learning journey. While you may not have always been directly involved in my daily experiences, your values, and life lessons created the foundations of the person that I am today.

To my newfound family in France, words cannot express the love and appreciation that I feel for all of you. You welcomed me with open arms and helped to transform what could have been a lonely experience into an amazing adventure. You've been more than friends, you've been a constant source of support and encouragement, both throughout the challenges of my thesis and during moments of personal doubts. Thanks to all of you I

could call Bordeaux my home during all this time, and you will always have a big place in my heart.

A big thank you goes to my advisors, whose invaluable guidance and expertise helped me to deal not only with the complexities of my research but also many other things even from my personal life. I am forever grateful for the time you invested in me, for the challenges you set that made me grow, for the belief you had in my ability to succeed, and for being two amazing people (not only exceptional professionals but also wonderful individuals). I couldn't have asked for better mentors.

Finally I want to give an special mention to:

- ► Juan: Without you, this wouldn't have been possible at all. Thank you for being a role model and a friend. I aspire to reach your level one day.
- Nico: Our long conversations about life and everything helped me grow and face challenges. Even with the distance, I feel we've grown closer over the years.
- ► Marce: You've always been my best friend, and your support means the world to me. Thank you for being there even when I wasn't always fully present.
- Carlos: My friend and roommate, you stood by me through all the ups and downs. It wasn't easy for either of us, but you were always there. Thank you for the gift of your friendship. (Note: Stop reading my mind!)
- Giulia: My sister, you're the person I'm most grateful to have met. Thank you for all your support and for being like family to me all these years. You were there in my happiest moments and my worst. You should always know you'll have a Colombian sister in me. (Note: Pierre la pierre)
- ► Ade, Mike, Souki, Alex, Preshit, Juanjo: In the beninging (in the ben...) everything was full of amazing people.
- ► Eli, Tugce: you two are my little sisters!
- ► And lastly, to Don Bernardo and Camilo, wherever you are, thank you. I wish I could share this with you too.

Yes, this journey has finally come to an end, there were times I wanted to quit, it felt impossible, and loneliness crept in. I often questioned if it was worth it, but looking back, how could it not be?

Thank you all for being a part of this story.

Sonia C. Garcia

P.D. Thank you for being there, and for caring. I love you... a bit.

Agradecimientos

Espero que esta carta de agradecimienots sea un testimonio de mis experiencias en los últimos años. Inicialmente, no quería que se tratara de mí, sino de todas las personas que me rodearon. Sin embargo, me gustaría dejar fluir mis emociones y usar este espacio pare intentar expresear todo lo que pasa por mi mente. Espero poder plasmar en este papel toda mi gratitud y amor a todos los que estuvieron directa o indirectamente involucrados en este proceso.

Toda mi vida he pensado que tengo mucha suerte. Siempre he podido hacer lo que quiero y como quiero, y siempre he contado con el apoyo adecuado y las oportunidades necesarias. ¿Cuántas personas pueden decir lo mismo? No me malinterpreten, todo esto no significa que haya sido fácil o que no haya tenido que esforzarme. Sin embargo, estoy consiente de que no solo tengo meritos, también tengo suerte, por esto estoy agradecida de que todo esto haya sido posible.

Desde pequeña, mis padres, a pesar de todas las limitaciones económicas, siempre se esforzaron por brindarnos a mi hermano y a mí todo lo necesario e incluso más. No existen palabras que puedan expresar toda la gratitud que siento hacia ellos, y con frecuencia siento que no se los digo lo suficiente. Ambos siempre estuvieron presentes en mi vida, en los momentos felices y en los difíciles, y siempre se aseguraron de estar allí para mí. Incluso cuando no tenían todas las respuestas o no comprendían el por qué de mis decisiones, sobre todo esta loca decisión de hacer un doctorado en un país tan lejano.

Mis padres trabajaban como mayordomos en una finca y, gracias a sus trabajos, tuve la increíble fortuna de crecer rodeada de un grupo increíble de personas que se convirtieron en una familia para mí. Doña Lucía, a quien quiero como a una abuela y es alguien a quien siempre llevo en mi corazón, todavía recuerdo las horas que pasé con ella, mientras pintaba cuadros increíbles, escuchando música o simplemente explorando cada rincón de la finca. Julián, Diego, Gloria, Tere, Ana, Mary y Nora que al pasar de los años se convirtieron en "tíos" y "tías" para mi, y que siempre me brindaron su apoyo en los altibajos.

Mi hermano, Camilo, quien siempre ha sido una fuente de inspiración y una persona a la que admiro. Aunque ambos hemos tomado caminos diferentes y hemos crecido en diferentes direcciones, él siempre ha estado allí para apoyarme y animarme. No puedo expresar en palabras lo que significa su apoyo para mí. Y espero que él sepa que también puede contar conmigo...

En general, a mi familia, incluidos mis abuelos, tíos y tías. Su presencia, incluso desde lejos, ha moldeado profundamente mi crecimiento y aprendizaje, y aunque no han estado directamente involucrados en mis experiencias diarias ustedes crearon los cimientos de la persona que soy hoy.

A mi nueva familia en Francia, las palabras no pueden expresar el amor y el aprecio que siento por todos ustedes. Me recibieron con los brazos abiertos y me ayudaron a transformar

lo que podría haber sido una experiencia solitaria en una aventura increíble. Han sido más que amigos, han sido una fuente constante de apoyo y aliento, tanto durante los desafíos de mi tesis como durante los momentos de dudas personales. Gracias a todos ustedes pude setirme en casa durante todo este tiempo, y siempre tendrán un lugar en mi corazón.

Un enorme agradecimiento a mis tutores, su invaluable guía y experiencia me ayudó a enfrentar no solo con las complejidades de la tesis sino también con muchas otras cosas, incluso de mi vida personal. Les estoy eternamente agradecida por el tiempo que me dedicaron, por los desafíos que me plantearon y me hicieron crecer, por la confianza que tenían en mi capacidad para triunfar y por ser dos personas increíbles (no solo en el ámbito profesionales sino también personal).

Finalmente, quiero dar una mención especial a:

- Juan: Sin ti, esto no hubiera sido posible en absoluto. Gracias por ser un modelo a seguir y un amigo. (Y ¿cómo no pensar en el imperio gallego? Bri, Saris, gracias a ustedes también, las quiero)
- Nico: Nuestras largas conversaciones enriquecedoras y que, de cierta manera, me ayudaron a ver ciertas situaciones con otros ojos.
- Carlos: Mi amigo y compañero de piso, fuiste parte de esta aventura desde antes que comenzara, me apoyaste en todos los altibajos. No fue fácil para ninguno de los dos, pero siempre estuviste ahí. Gracias por tu amistad.
- Marce: Siempre te he considerado mi mejor amiga y tu apoyo significa el mundo para mí. Gracias por estar ahí incluso cuando yo no estaba completamente presente.
- Giulia: eres la persona que más me alegra haber conocido. Gracias por todo tu apoyo y por ser como una familia para mí todos estos años. Estuviste allí en mis momentos más felices y en los peores. Eres mi hermana italiana!
- ► Ade, Mike, Souki, Alex, Preshit: Un grupo de personas increíbles!
- ► Eli, Tugce: Mis dos hermanas pequeñas!
- Y por último, Don Bernardo y Camilo, donde sea que estén, gracias. Ojalá pudiera compartir este logro con ustedes.

Y si... este viaje llegó a su fin. Hubo momentos en los que quise renunciar y se sintió imposible llegar a la meta, muchas veces me pregunté si valía la pena. Hoy, mirando hacia atrás puedo decir que si valió la pena.

Sonia C. Garcia

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Context	1
	1.2	Contribution of this thesis	4
	1.3	Outline	4
	1.4	Physical hypothesis	5
2	The	tolerancing framework	7
	2.1	Technical system representation of the tolerancing problem	7
	2.2	Tolerance analysis	10
		2.2.1 Tolerance analysis methods	10
		Parametric approaches	11
		Methods based on sets of constraints	11
	2.3	Tolerance synthesis and allocation	13
		2.3.1 Optimization methods	14
		2.3.2 Objective functions	15
	2.4	Summary	17
		2.4.1 Positioning of this work	17
3	Pris	matic polyhedra approach	19
	3.1	Modeling set of constraints	19
		3.1.1 Modeling the stack up of deviations with polyhedra	22
		Serial architectures	23
		Parallel architectures	26
		3.1.2 Compliance with the functional requirement	27
	3.2	Case study: Prismatic polyhedra approach	33
	3.3	Summary	40
4	Moo	del reduction	45
	4.1	Discretization and operand complexity	45
	4.2	The final sum in a tolerancing analysis problem	50
	4.3	Case study: Simplified model	53
	4.4	Summary	60
5	Tole	erance allocation and optimization	63
	5.1	Introduction to the optimization problem	65
	5.2	Function to optimize: Cost model	67
	5.3	Optimization algorithm	69
		5.3.1 Simulated annealing	70

		5.3.2	Parameterization	72
			Candidate solution	72
			Neighboring	72
			Acceptance criterion	73
			Cooling schedule	74
		5.3.3	Feasibility of optimizing	76
		5.3.4	Pre-processing of the input data	77
	5.4	Case s	study: Spectrometer	78
	5.5	Summ	nary	85
6	Con	clusion	n and Future Work	87
	6.1	Concl	usion	87
	6.2	Future	e work	91
Bi	bliog	raphy		93
Al	phab	etical l	Index	103

List of Figures

1.1 1.2	Tolerance analysis1Tolerance synthesis1
1.3	Manufacturing costs in product life-cycle
2.1	Skin model shape representation of the geometrical deviations [33] 8
2.2	Substitute surface representation of the geometrical deviations [37] 9
2.3	Comparison of domains, T-Maps and polytopes [27]
2.4	Iolerance analysis 13
2.5	Iolerance synthesis/allocation 14
2.6	Summary: the road towards the tolerance optimization
2.7	Positioning of this work
3.1	Toleranced feature and tolerance zone 19
3.2	Contact modelling according to functional attributes [57]
3.3	2-dimensional cylindrical joint
3.4	2-Polytope
3.5	3-Polyhedron
3.6	Caped Polytope
3.7	Sum of two polyhedra
3.8	Intersection of two polyhedra
3.9	Over-inclussion
3.10	Over-inclussion
3.11	Tolerance of circumscription 30
3.12	Spectrometer - CAD model
3.13	Parts and surfaces enumeration of the spectrometer
3.14	Contact graph of the spectrometer
3.15	Experience Chamber Drawing 37
3.16	Massive part drawing 38
3.17	Magnetic pole drawing
3.18	3d representation of the resulting polyhedron Γ_R
3.19	Spectrometer: Verification of the inclussion
3.20	Tolerance analysis with the polyhedral approach41
3.21	PolitoCAT_gui: Complete tolerance analysis analysis graphical tool. CAD model
	display, contact graph and tolerance analysis
4.1	Minkowski sum of 1d polytopes in a 3d space
4.2	Result of a minkowski sum of three 1d polytopes in a 3d space

4.3	Minkowski sum of three 1d polytopes, where two operands are parallel to each	1.6
4 4	other	46
4.4	Result of the minkowski sum of three Id polytopes, with two parallel operands	46
4.5	Comparisson of the result with different amount of nodes (in blue) vs the double	40
1 (Cone (in red)	48
4.6	Variation of the volume with respect to the amount of discretization points	49
4./	variation of the volume with respect to the amount of discretization points (the	10
1.0	dashed lines represent the delimitation of the clearance zone)	49
4.8	Calculation of Γ_R as the Minkowski sum between Γ_A and the two handles \cdot .	51
4.9	Contribution in percentage of each Sum in the calculation time for each simula-	Γ 4
1 10	tion (see Table 4.1)	54
4.10	Calculation time with and without nancies	56
4.11	Convergence of the tolerance of circumscription while increasing the quality of	
1 10	The input operands, see Table 4.1	57
4.12	Pump: CAD model and enumeration of parts and surfaces	57
4.13	Pump: Contact graph	58
4.14	Pump: Calculation time with and without handles	59
4.15	Pump: Convergence of the tolerance of circumscription	59
4.16	Model reduction process	61
5.1	Quality-cost conflict in tolerance allocation	63
5.2	Tolerance allocation and optimization cycle	66
5.3	Simulated Annealing algorithm: general flowchart	71
5.4	Simulated Annealing algorithm: acceptance criterion	73
5.5	Simulated Annealing algorithm: cooling schedule	75
5.6	Verification of the feasibility condition i) left: $\Gamma_R(t_{i \min}) \subset \Gamma_{FC}$ ii) right: $\Gamma_R(t_{i \max}) \not\subset$	
	$\Gamma_{\rm FC}$	79
5.7	Results simulated annealing $(a = 0.9 T_0 = 41) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	80
5.8	Results simulated annealing $(a = 0.95 T_0 = 41)$	81
5.9	Identification of the λ parameters in the contact graph	82
5.10	Experience Chamber Drawing	83
5.11	Massive part drawing	84
5.12	Magnetic pole drawing	84
5.13	Tolerance allocation and optimization	86
6.1	Complete tolerance allocation and optimization process with the prismatic	
	polyhedral approach	90
6.2	Summary: Contributions of this work	91

List of Tables

2.1	Two parameter cost-tolerance functions	16
2.2 2.3	Three parameter cost-tolerance functions	16 16
3.1	Topological structure of a contact polyhedron [57]	21
3.Z	Experience chamber dimensions and tolerances	36
3.3 2.4	Values for the 1, coefficients	30 27
3.4	Magnetic pole dimensions and tolerances	37
3.6 3.7	Amount of half-spaces for each operand involved on the tolerance analysis Calculation time (Computations performed with the library politopix [93] with	39
	an Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2.10GHz)	39
4.1	Amount of half-spaces for each operand during all the simulations performed.	53
4.2	reduction(Computations performed with the library politopix [93] with an Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2.10GHz).	54
4.3	Calculation time for each sum during every simulation process of tolerance reduction <i>without</i> handles and tolerance of circumscription of the result of each simulation (Computations performed with the library politopix [93] with an	
4.4	Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2.10GHz)	55
	an Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2 10GHz)	56
4.5	Pump: Amount of half-spaces for each operand during all the simulations	50
1.0	performed.	59
5.1	Common tolerance-cost function with its coefficient, [11]	67
5.2	Non-traditional Tolerance-cost functions	68
5.3	Lower and upper bounds for the λ_i coefficients	78
5.4	Amount of half-spaces for each opera	78
5.5 5.6	The best solution founded with the simulated annealing for each schedule \therefore Values for the drawings Figure 5.10, Figure 5.11 and Figure 5.12 (in <i>mm</i>) \ldots	81 83

Introduction

1.1 Context

Mechanisms are designed for a purpose that defines their *main function*. The primary function is the fundamental reason for which the mechanism is designed [1] and it is defined by the functional requirements, determining what the mechanism should do. At the end of the design process, all the requirements should be reflected by the behaviour attributes and physical attributes of the real and tangible design object.

The kinematic behaviour of a mechanism can be strongly affected by dimensional and geometric deviations of its components that are mainly generated during the manufacturing process [2], those deviations are unavoidable due to manufacturing and measurement imperfections [3]. To limit the unintentional part deviations, the designer must specify and allocate tolerances to ensure the fulfilment of specified quality requirements [4].

However, tolerance specification is not a trivial task because:

- The assigned tolerance values affect the functionalities of a design and the manufacturing cost of the designed parts.
- Design tolerances are often interrelated and contribute to a given resultant tolerance [4].

Furthermore, tolerances play an ubiquitous role during the product life-cycle [5] entailing various tolerance-related problems that are interrelated with each other.

Traditionally, there have been two ways to approach this problem. The first way is by analyzing the functionality of a product taking into account the variabilities of the individual parts in a bottom-up approach, see Figure 1.1, and the other way is to allocate tolerances in a top-down approach maintaining proper functionality of the final product [6], see Figure 1.2. The first approach is called tolerance analysis and is considered to be a production function, and the second

1.1 Context	1
1.2 Contribution of this	
thesis	4
1.3 Outline	4
1.4 Physical hypothesis	5







Figure 1.2: Tolerance synthesis (inspired on [6])

2 | 1 Introduction



Figure 1.3: Manufacturing costs in product life-cycle (reproduced from [9])

approach named tolerance synthesis is viewed as a design function [7].

Tolerance synthesis (also called tolerance allocation, tolerance selection, tolerance allotment, tolerance distribution or tolerance design) is traditionally seen as a "constrained optimization problem" in which the objective function is usually a cost function, a quality function or a cost-quality function [6]. The objective of the tolerance synthesis is to complete or increase the tolerance specification, originally made from experience or empirical knowledge, by incorporating some heuristic, optimization or other methods [8].

The lack of knowledge and difficulty in obtaining an analytical expression relating the manufacturing accuracy of a dimension with its manufacturing cost, lead to the designer to rely on rules like "the lower the tolerance, the higher the cost of manufacturing" or "do not specify higher accuracy than is needed" [10]. The assignment of design tolerances is normally performed on a trial and error method. Some of the tolerances are determined based on the experience and manufacturing knowledge of the designer or with default values. The compliance of the tolerances with the requirements is verified using tolerance analysis methods and, in the case of non-compliance, uncritical tolerances are modified to satisfy these constraints [4]. However, this methodology requires considerable time and effort and does not lead to the ideal set of tolerances with minimum production costs [10]; furthermore, as shown in Figure 1.3, wrong decisions in the conceptual product development can increase the manufacturing cost by more than 60% [9].

Tolerance allocation and optimization allows to do this iterative work using an optimization algorithm in order to find an "optimal" set of tolerances that will guarantee the compliance of the mechanism and the minimal value of a optimization function, usually a cost, quality or cost-quality function [11]. The tolerance analysis method that is used during this optimization process plays an important role on the kind of mechanisms that we are able to model. Different methods of tolerance analysis have been developed in the literature [8, 12–16]. These methods have been classified by the dimensionality (1d, 2d or 3d), the type of variations included (dimensional, dimensional+geometric), the analysis level (part level, assembly level) [17]. However, as it has been noted in those reviews, each model has advantages and disadvantages what means that the model must be chosen in line with the technical system and the assumptions and simplifications made in it to simplify the real model.

In this work the tolerance analysis method are going to be classified into two approaches:

- ▶ based on parametric approaches [18, 19],
- ▶ based on sets of constraints (SOCs) [20, 21].

The main advantage of the methods based on set of constraints is that they allow to model over-constrained mechanisms and to validate the fulfillment of a design criterion in just one simulation.

This thesis is the continuity of previous works carried out at the I2M laboratory, and it is focused on the tolerance allocation and optimization of mechanical system by means of a tolerance analysis method based on set of constraints (prismatic polyhedral approach).

4 | 1 Introduction

1.2 Contribution of this thesis

The prismatic polyhedral approach models all the possible deviations of a nominal feature by means of 6-dimensional unbounded set of constraints. The multidimensionalilty of these operands makes it harder to quantify the compliance of a mechanical system when doing tolerance analysis. In order to solve this problem in the following work we will introduce an *indicator* that will help to understand the level of inclusion or not of a the result of a stack-up of deviations into a functional condition.

Since the prismatic polyhedral approach is feature based, we cannot be sure that the level of discretization chosen when generating the operands is appropriate, hence in most of the cases the designer tends to choose fine meshes that increases the complexity of the operands and therefore the calculation time. In order to face this problem, we propose to perform a convergence analysis in order to determine the best compromise between the calculation time and the quality of the result. In addition, we propose a new property that will help to reduce the calculation time by simplifying the last sum on the tolerance analysis.

Finally, we reunite all the works that have been done until now in tolerance analysis with prismatic polyhedra operands and we propose a methodology to perform tolerance allocation and optimization. In order to to this, we propose a cost function based on the *indicator* that quantifies the compliance of the mechanical system introduced in this work. And we perform the tolerance optimization process using as input the operands resulting from the convergence analysis.

1.3 Outline

This document is divided into main parts:

In Chapter 2, the tolerance framework is reviewed. In particular the principal models for the representation of geometrical deviations are list. The main approaches for tolerancing analysis are mentioned and the general strategies for tolerance allocation and optimization are summarized.

- In Chapter 3, the method for geometric tolerance based on prismatic polyhedra is presented, describing how to represent the deviations of a nominal surface by means of unbounded set of constraints. The operations to reduce a contact graph by means of prismatic polyhedra are formalized. A two step verification process of the mechanical system compliance is introduced, separating the kinematic compliance from the tolerance compliance. Finally, the case of study that is going to use during all the work is presented.
- In Chapter 4, a property to reduce the last operation on the contact graph reduction in order to decrease the complexity and the calculation time, is presented. In addition, this chapter introduces a methodology to determine the discretization of the prismatic polyhedra operands in order to have accurate results when doing tolerance analysis based on a convergence criterion (tolerance of circumscription).
- Chapter 5 uses all the results from the previous chapters and includes them in an optimization process in order to perform tolerance allocation and optimization using the Simulated Annealing as the optimization method.
- Finally, in the last chapter, a general discussion is presented with prospects for further research.

1.4 Physical hypothesis

This work is based on the following considerations:

- ▶ Parts are considered as rigid bodies,
- ► Local deformations are not taken into account,
- ► Form defects are not taken into account,
- ► Small rotations are considered linear.

The tolerancing framework

To be able to face the problem of tolerance optimization, first we need to understand what are design requirements as well as their relation with the geometrical requirements. Understanding of this is the first step to start the process of tolerance specification, allocation, analysis and finally tolerance optimization. Those steps can be summarized into:

- Translation of the product requirements into a set of geometrical requirements at the assembly and part level.
- Choice of the specifications by means of the ISO tolerancing stantards [22–26].
- Allocation of the tolerances values.
- Studying the effects of the part deviations and determining the fulfillment of a quality/functional objective.
- Try to achieve an optimal set of tolerances that guarantees the fulfillment of the functional condition while minimizing an objective function when the tolerance specification is fixed.

2.1 Technical system representation of the tolerancing problem

The design function establishes the functional relationships between the tolerances of the individual components and the one of the final assembly. In a general way, from a mathematical point of view this relation can be writen as:

$$Y = f(X_1, X_2, X_3, \cdots, X_n)$$
(2.1)

Where, Y is the cumulative stack-up of deviations that depends on the independent deviations X of n components, and f corresponds to the design function [27]. The system of interest to be analyzed should be represented by a suitable model, in which some assumptions and simplifications are made to obtain a manageable and realistic system [6].

- 2.1 Technical system representation of the tolerancing problem
- 2.2 Tolerance analysis 10

7

- 2.2.1 Tolerance analysis
 - methods 10
- 2.3 Tolerance synthesis
- and allocation . . . 13
- 2.3.1 Optimization meth-
- ods \ldots 14
- 2.3.2 Objective functions 15
- 2.4 Summary 172.4.1 Positioning of this



Figure 2.1: Skin model shape representation of the geometrical deviations [33]

In order to model the independent deviations of the components, a physical geometrical and variational model has to be properly chosen [27].

Geometrical deviations initially occur during the manufacturing and assembly processes, hence these deviations will generate uncertainties in surface orientation position and form. When products are in operation, other geometric deviations related to the friction, heat, forces, etc, may appear. Depending on the product that is going to be modeled or in the level of detail required, some of these deviations can be relevant and may be taken into account. Some works have been done in order to consider mechanical deformations due to vibrations [28], thermal deviations [29, 30] or wear diagnostic on bearings [31]. However, finding a general method to consider the deformation of parts for tolerance is a challenging tasks. The methods developed on the literature are either time consuming, because they include finite element analysis, or case specific [32]. Thus, most geometric and tolerancing approaches assume rigid bodies.

The geometrical model is related to the way in which the geometrical deviations are taken into account. In specific, the surface representation can be done by means of two approaches: i) ideal surfaces and ii) skin model shapes. The *skin model shapes* representation is based on the generation of non-ideal geometries that represent the manufactured surface including the form defects [33, 34], see Figure 2.1. The main advantage of this representation is that it can simulates expected deviations for specific manufacturing processes [35, 36]. However, the level of detail of the model makes the simulations time consuming and their use tends to be



Figure 2.2: Substitute surface representation of the geometrical deviations [37]

restricted to simple assemblies. Hence, tolerance simulations are often based on *ideal surfaces*, features of perfect forms called substituted surfaces, Figure 2.2. Those surfaces are associated to the real surfaces following a given criterion to minimize the form defects [37].

In order to represent the geometrical deviations a mathematical model must be associated with the geometrical model. Different kinds of models have been proposed for both skin model-based and substitute feature-based representations. Variations in skin model shapes are typically simulated by linear combinations of form error modes associated with the nominal geometry [38, 39]. When form defects are neglected, it is equivalent to consider only the first six natural modes. In these cases, the deviations (in position and orientation) of the substitute feature are characterized by means of vectors, transformation matrices or torsors/screws. In 3d tolerancing, the position and orientation of features can be characterized by means of homogeneous transformations [40]. However, working with this representation can be hard since it involves manipulating non linear relations [41]. If the assumption of small rotations is made, this non-linear relations can be linearized [18, 42]. Models like domains [43], T-maps [44], polytopes [45] and polyhedra [46] represent all the possible deviations by means of set of constraints (SOCs). The particularity of the polytope and polyhedra models is that the boundaries of non linear features are discretized to obtain linear constraints that are easier to manipulate. In addition, the polyhedra model allows to model directly the degrees of

invariance of the features, more details about this approach will be presented in Chapter 3.

Finally, at the assembly level the behavior model will help to represent the stack-up of deviations. This interaction depends on how the individual parts are mated and the construction of the assembly response function f, see Equation 2.1, depends on how the variations are modeled. By means of models based on SOCs, the dependencies between rotations and translations are considered, hence, either iso and over-constrained mechanisms can be modeled and just one simulation is required to perform the tolerance analysis of the mechanical system.

2.2 Tolerance analysis

Geometric and Dimensional Tolerancing Analysis (GDTA) consists in simulating the behavior of a mechanical system in function of the geometric defects of the parts and their contact specifications, allowing to model no only the defects at the part level but their interaction at the assembly level.

2.2.1 Tolerance analysis methods

During the past years, a variety of tolerance models have been proposed and some review of these researches can be found in [8, 12–16]. Those methods have been classified by the dimensionality (1d, 2d or 3d), the type of variations included (dimensional, dimensional+geometric), the analysis level (part level, assembly level), etc. [17]. However each model has advantages and disadvantages hence it must be chosen in line with the technical system and the assumptions and simplifications made in it to represent the real model.

One practical way of classifying the tolerance analysis methods is to divide them into:

- ▶ The methods based on parametric approaches [18, 19],
- The methods based on sets of constraints (SOCs) [20, 21].



Figure 2.3: Comparison of domains, T-Maps and polytopes [27]

Parametric approaches

Parametric approaches, formalize the relative position of any two surfaces of a mechanism at a specific point by a simple expression, (linear or non-linear) between parameters of position (translation and/or rotation), that can be obtained by analytic [19, 47–49] or stochastic methods (Monte Carlo [50, 51]). Among these methods we can find CLIC [18], Robustness Analysis [52], Jacobian Matrices [53], TTRS [54, 55], SDT [19].

The main advantage of this kind of models is it allows to easily determine the influence coefficients of the parameters. However, this method do not take into account the dependencies between the limits of rotation and translation [45]. Hence, many simulations are needed in order to know the solution space. In addition, treating over-constrained mechanisms with this kind of approaches is complicated.

Methods based on sets of constraints

Methods based on sets of constraints (SOCs) were introduced by Fleming [56]. The main advantage of these methods are able to model over-constrained mechanisms and to characterize not only the geometric variation but also the contacts [57]. In these methods, the sets of constraints define the boundaries of relative displacements between two surfaces of the same part (geometric constraints) and boundaries of relative displacements between two separate parts that are potentially in contact (contact constraints).

By means of models such us domains [21], T-Maps [44], polytopes [58] or polyhedra [57, 59], the dependencies between rotation and translations are considering requiring only one

simulation to verify the compliance of a mechanical system in regards to a functional condition. The main difference between these approaches is the way they model the SOCs, see Figure 2.3, however although some of these models are initially able to handle quadratic constraints, they finally linearize the sets of boundaries because of the complexity of handling these operands [60].

These methods reduce a mechanical system architecture by combining the SOCs of the system through sums and intersections to determine the relative location between two faces of two parts (among which the functional requirement is defined) in any mechanical system [56]. The inclusion of the resulting SOC inside the functional SOC –modelling a functional requirement– simulates the conformity of the mechanical system [27].

The polyhedral approach is set-based. Some works have introduced some statistical distributions on the SOCs and use stochastic approaches to solve the operations [61]. An extension of this work on a model based on skin-model shapes has been done in [62]. A probabilistic approach was used by Dumas [63] on a model based on substituted surfaces. The former technique has been used as well with skin-model shapes in [64].

The main advantage of the methods based on SOCs is that they allow to model any mechanism whether it is overconstrained or not. In addition to this, the main advantage of the polyhedral method is that it allows to model directly the degrees of freedom of a contact or the degrees of invariance of a surface without restrictive assumptions [57].

In summary, tolerance analysis can be seen as a black box in which as inputs we have the functional requirement(s) and the geometric and contact specifications and as a result we obtain the answer to the question of if our system is compliant or not with the functional condition, see Figure 2.4. In order to pass from this input data to the response, it is necessary to use a mathematical solver that has as the kernel the tolerance analysis method that relates the characteristics that represent our technical system. In general, the mathematical solver can follow a statistical or a worst-case approach. Hence, the choice of the tolerance analysis method is related to the type of mechanism and the assumptions of the technical system.



Figure 2.4: Tolerance analysis

2.3 Tolerance synthesis and allocation

In the search for finding a way to overcome the challenge of tolerance allocation considering both quality and cost issues, different methodologies for tolerance allocation using optimization techniques have been developed during the last years.

In general, the procedure to approach a tolerance synthesis problem is defined by three issues:

- ► the design function,
- ► the objective function,
- ► the optimization method.

The design function is related to the way the mechanical system is modeled, the technical system, and how the deviations accumulate and/or interact, the tolerance analysis. On the other hand, the objective function is related to a cost-tolerance functional relationship or a quality loss functional relationship [6]. Finally the optimization method is just the mathematical technique used to find the best solution.

The tolerance synthesis can be seen as an iterative process in which the geometric specifications are modified each time in order to find the right set of parameters that allows us to obtain the system conformity while optimizing the objective function. However, since it is usually reduce to iteratively allocate a set of tolerances in order to find an optimum of an objective function, it is usual to do tolerance allocation and optimization instead.



Figure 2.5: Tolerance synthesis/allocation

2.3.1 Optimization methods

From [6, 11], the optimization methods used for tolerance allocation can be classified into:

- Traditional methods
- ► Manual, iterative application of tolerance analysis
- ► Quality engineering and statistical methods
- Stochastic population based search methods

Traditional methods

These methods where developed when the computer technology was not available or was limited. It consists in graphical and analytical methods that used rough rules and do not consider quantitative cost information [13, 65, 66]. Its applicability is limited and nowadays they are mostly used for preliminary tolerance assignment in early design stages.

Manual, iterative application of tolerance analysis

In this approach, the tolerances are assigned and checked in a trial an error basis. Basically, a set of tolerances is allocated and the designer verifies if the quality requirements are met. If the quality requirements are not met a new set of tighter tolerances is allocated. Otherwise, wider tolerances can be set leading to reduce manufacturing costs [67]. The identification of the relevant tolerances by means of sensitivity analysis can help in this kind of processes to reduce the problem into just modifying them.

This kind of approaches are time consuming and can lead to not optimal solutions because there is no quantitative cost information taken into account [68].

Quality engineering and statistical methods

Different statistical methods, such us design of experiments and analysis of variance, can be used to identify optimal tolerance designs [69, 70]. This kind of methods can be used for complex mechanical assemblies, however they are not universally applicable and do necessarily not lead to optimal results.

Stochastic population based search methods

A lot of times, the design space of the optimization problem in tolerancing can become irregular and complex to handle. This kind of problems can be solved using meta-heuristic methods [71] such us simulated annealing [72, 73], genetic algorithms [68, 74], particle swarm optimization [75, 76], etc. The main problem of this kind of approach is that they are very time consuming.

2.3.2 Objective functions

Several types of tolerance functions have been used in solving allocation problems. Most of the time cost-tolerance relationships are used as the objective function [8]. Each of these functions has a different formulation (power law, exponential, polynomial, etc.), and includes a set of parameters. The choice of the function type is a compromise between various criteria: a complex function is more accurate with respect to real cost data but requires more computational effort; a simple function is less accurate but requires less computational effort [11].

Extensive discussions on cost-tolerance functions are reported in some reviews on tolerance allocation [6, 11, 77–81],

Table 2.1: Two parameter cost-

Table 2.1: Two parameter cost-	Linear $C = a + bT$	7
tolerance functions	Reciprocal $C = a + \frac{b}{T}$	
	Reciprocal squared $C = a + \frac{b}{T^2}$	•
Table 2.2: Three parameter cost- tolerance functions	Reciprocal power $C = a + \frac{b}{T^k}$	_
	Exponential $C = a + \frac{b}{e^{kT}}$	

and in studies comparing different types of functions [82–84].

C = a + bT

The cost-tolerance functions can be classified according to the number of parameters in the cost equation [11, 77]:

- ▶ Two parameter functions, each parameter related to the fixed cost and the variable cost
- ▶ Functions with more parameters define in a more accurate way the variable cost.

The most common functions found in the literature are the two and three parameter functions. The two parameter functions, Table 2.1, have limited accuracy, however they are interesting due to their ability to provide specially simple and expressive analytical solutions to the allocation problem. On the other hand, the functions wit three parameters, Table 2.1, are the most frequently chosen because they seem to have a favorable balance of accuracy and ease use. In Table 2.3, there is a summary of the most used tolerance-cost optimization used in the literature.

One of the main problems with tolerance-cost functions is the lack of knowledge and information available. Inconsistent terminology and the lack of a classification of the various relevant aspects are obstacles for the application of tolerancecost optimization approaches. This makes it difficult to choose an appropriate cost-tolerance function for a given problem. Moreover, obtaining accurate cost data is often challenging, which makes it difficult to develop accurate cost-tolerance functions [85].

Table 2.3: Breakdown of the ap-	Function	Overall	2010+
tions [77]	Reciprocal	17%	14%
	Reciprocal squared	10%	6%
	Reciprocal power	25%	26%
	Exponential	36%	40%
	Others	12%	14%

2.4 Summary

Considering geometric and dimensional uncertainties is an essential part during the design stage because it will impact all the life-cycle of a product. Modeling a mechanical system implies doing some assumptions in order to simplify the model to be able to analyze it. These simplifications have to be carefully done by the designer since it will directly impact the accuracy of the results of his analysis.

Once the simplification of the mechanical system is done, a tolerance analysis method, with a mathematical kernel that is able to handle the assumptions made, can be applied in order to verify the mechanical compliance of the system with respect a functional condition. However, sometimes just verifying the compliance is not enough, and further information is required. A designer may want to know, for example, which set of tolerances will guarantee the mechanical compliance of the system or even which set of tolerance can minimize or maximize a given objective function.

Tolerance allocation and optimization aims to allow the designer to obtain a set of tolerances that not only guarantees the mechanical compliance of the system but to optimize an objective function that is usually cost-based. The complexity of the mechanical system, the amount of parameters to be found and the solution space, may lead the designer to choose a specific optimization method. The objective function to be optimized is not trivial to choose, in the literature many options can be found and their parametrization is far from easy. The lack of information available in terms of the variable costs makes this an open direction for further research.

2.4.1 Positioning of this work

Based on the summary presented in Figure 2.6, this work is positioned on it as shown in Figure 2.7.

Although this work has been developed for worst-case it can be applied also for statistical treatment. In addition, even if the optimization done in this work is made on a function that represents indirectly the manufacturig costs, if another objective function wants to be used the process is the same and our method works as well.



Figure 2.6: Summary: the road towards the tolerance optimization



Figure 2.7: Positioning of this work

Prismatic polyhedra approach 3

3.1 Modeling set of constraints

The tolerance zone represents the range of acceptable variations in the manufacturing process for a specific feature. If the feature is seen as a collection of discrete points P_i , each point has to be within the limits of the tolerance zone, hence the geometric constraints for all the points can be modeled as algebraic constraints as follows:

$$S_1 \subseteq TZ \Leftrightarrow \forall P_i \in S_0 : d^{\inf} \le \vec{t}_{P_i} \cdot \hat{n}_i \le d^{\sup}$$
 (3.1)

where S_1 is the substituted surface related to the nominal surface S_0 , TZ is the tolerance zone defining the offsetting limits d^{inf} and d^{sup} , \vec{t}_{P_i} is the translation displacement of S_1 in relation to S_0 at the point P_i , and \hat{n}_i is the normal of S_0 at the point P_i , see Figure 3.1.

Calculating the constraints in Equation 3.1 at a common point M (that is rigidly connected to the toleranced feature), and linearizing the rotations under the consideration of small displacements [86], we have:

$$d^{\inf} \le \left(\vec{t}_M + \overrightarrow{P_i M} \times \vec{r}\right) \cdot \hat{n}_i \le d^{\sup} \tag{3.2}$$

where \vec{r} is the rotation vector of S_1 in relation to S_0 . Hence, each constraint represents a half-space in the 6-dimensional space of deviations [58]:



- 3.1 Modeling set of constraints 19
- 3.1.1 Modeling the stack up of deviations
- with polyhedra . . 22 3.1.2 Compliance with the functional requirement 27
- 3.2 Case study: Prismatic polyhedra approach 33
- 3.3 Summary 40

Figure 3.1: Toleranced feature and tolerance zone (reproduced from [45])

$$\overline{U}_{k}^{+} = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{6} : b_{k} + \sum_{i=1}^{6} a_{k_{i}} x_{i} \ge 0, \, \forall i \in \{1 \cdots 6\} \right\}$$
(3.3)

where x_i with i = 1, 2, 3 are the rotation variables (r_x, r_y) and r_z and with i = 4, 5, 6 are the translation variables (t_x, t_y) and t_z , a_{k_i} are scalar parameters depending on the geometry of the toleranced feature and the location of the calculation point M, and the constant b_k is related to the width of the tolerance zone t or the value of the clearance, in the contacts. When the tolerance zone is centered with respect to its nominal surface all the b_k are equal to t/2 (see Figure 3.1)

When the boundary of the nominal surface is discretized in *m* points *P* (the set of discretization points is then P_i with $i \in \{1, \dots, m\}$) a set of $k_{\max} = 2m$ half-spaces is obtained. The intersection of those half-spaces defines a convex \mathcal{H} -polyhedron (where \mathcal{H} stands for half-space) in \mathbb{R}^6 , see Definition 3.1.1.

For a couple of features potentially in contact, the allowable displacements inside the clearance can be characterized in a similar way [45, 58]. The toleranced feature is defined in the case of permanent contacts between the features and the tolerance zone is determined according to the clearance value. For more details about the generation of the operands refer to [57].

The set of constraints derived from a toleranced feature usually defines an unbounded set in a 6-dimensional space of deviations. This is a consequence of the degrees of invariance of the toleranced features or the DoFs of the joints [45, 87].

According to the Minkowski-Weyl theorem [88], a polyhedron can be decomposed into the sum of a polytope P (see Definition 3.1.2) and a polyhedral cone C, representing the unbounded part of the polyhedron [27]:

$$\Gamma = P \oplus C \tag{3.4}$$

When such a polyhedron can be represented as a sum between a polytope and a sum of straight lines we call it a prismatic polyhedron, see Definition 3.1.5. In geometric tolerancing,

Definition3.1.1 $(\mathcal{H}$ -polyhedron)Lettheset $\{\bar{U}_m^+, m \in \{1, \cdots, k_{\max}\}\}$ be a finite number of closed half-spaces of \mathbb{R}^n . The intersectionof $\{\bar{U}_m^+\}$ will generate a convex \mathcal{H} -polyhedron in \mathbb{R}^n



Definition 3.1.2 (Polytope) *A* polytope of \mathbb{R}^n is a set $P \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ which can be represented either as a \mathcal{V} -polytope or as an \mathcal{H} -Polytope [88].

Definition 3.1.3 (\mathcal{V} -Polytope) $A\mathcal{V}$ -polytope of \mathbb{R}^n is the convex hull of a finite set of points V_i in \mathbb{R}^n [88].

 $P = conv(V_i)$

Definition 3.1.4 (\mathcal{H} -Polytope) An \mathcal{H} -polytope of \mathbb{R}^n is a bounded \mathcal{H} -polyhedron of \mathbb{R}^n (see Definition 3.1.1).



Figure 3.2: Contact modelling according to functional attributes [57]

Table 3.1: Topological structure of a contact polyhedron [57]

	Р	$\sum_{j=1}^{d} \Delta_j$
Case (i) floating contact	Full polytope of dimension $(6 - d)$	Affine space of dimension d
Case (ii) sliding contact	Singleton of dimension $(6 - d)$	Affine space of dimension d
Case (iii) fixed contact	Singleton of dimension $(6 - d)$	Singleton of dimension d

this polyhedron can be seen as an 'extrusion' of the polytope (derived from geometric or contact constraints) along its associated straight lines [89]. This polyhedron has a specific property that can be decomposed as follows [57]:

$$\Gamma = \pi_{(\sum_j \Delta_j(\Gamma))^{\perp}}(\Gamma) + \sum_j \Delta_j(\Gamma)$$

The former definition allows us to take advantage of the orthogonality between the space of the bounded displacements, where the polytopes lives, and the degrees of freedom, represented by the set of straight lines, see Figure 3.5.

The prismatic polyhedral approach allows to model the main kinds of contacts: Floating, sliding and fixed, see Figure 3.2 and Table 3.1.

Example: Cylindrical pair (floating contact)

Let us consider a cylindrical pair, see Figure 3.3. For illustrative purposes, let us consider it as a 2d model: only displacements in the plane [x, y] are taken into account.

Definition 3.1.5 (Prismatic Polyhedron) *A prismatic polyhedron of* \mathbb{R}^n *is an* \mathcal{H} *-polyhedron of* \mathbb{R}^n (see Definition 3.1.1) that *can be decomposed into the sum of a given number of straight lines* Δ_i , j < n and a polytope.


Figure 3.3: A cylindrical joint. In the case of the 2d example, only one linear motion is possible (t_x) , t_y and r_z are bounded. The clearance is $c = d_h - d_s$



Figure 3.4: The subspace of bounded displacements can be represented by means of a convex polytope. It is the result of the intersection of all the half-spaces obtained after the discretization of the toleranced feature



Figure 3.5: The polyhedron Γ_c represents, not only the bounded displacements but also the DoFs (unbounded displacements - t_x) of the toleranced feature, by means of straight-lines or polyhedral cones

The tolerance zone will restrict the translation of the points P_1 and P_2 , from Equation 3.1:

$$-c/2 \le \vec{t}_{P_1} \cdot \hat{j} \le c/2$$
$$-c/2 \le \vec{t}_{P_2} \cdot \hat{j} \le c/2$$

where, the clearance is $c = d_h - d_s$, with d_s and d_h as the diameters of the shaft and the hole, respectively. When expressing the former algebraic constraints at the point M, from Equation 3.2 we have:

$$-c/2 \le \left(\vec{t}_M + \overrightarrow{P_1 M} \times \vec{r}\right) \cdot \hat{j} \le c/2$$
$$-c/2 \le \left(\vec{t}_M + \overrightarrow{P_2 M} \times \vec{r}\right) \cdot \hat{j} \le c/2$$

since we have 2 discretization points *m*, we will have $k_{\text{max}} = 4$ half-spaces of of \mathbb{R}^3 , knowing that $\overrightarrow{P_1M} = -a/2\hat{i}$ and $\overrightarrow{P_2M} = a/2\hat{i}$, we get:

$$\begin{split} \bar{U}_{1\sup}^{+} &: c/2 - t_y - a/2 \, r_z \ge 0 \\ \bar{U}_{1\inf}^{+} &: c/2 + t_y + a/2 \, r_z \ge 0 \\ \bar{U}_{2\sup}^{+} &: c/2 - t_y + a/2 \, r_z \ge 0 \\ \bar{U}_{2\inf}^{+} &: c/2 + t_y - a/2 \, r_z \ge 0 \end{split}$$

In the \mathbb{R}^2 space spanned by $[t_y, r_z]$, the intersection of these half-spaces defines a 2-polytope, see Figure 3.6. When considering the \mathbb{R}^3 space spanned by $[t_y, r_z, t_x]$, the intersection of the half-spaces will generate an unbounded object, i.e. a polyhedron, see Figure 3.6.

3.1.1 Modeling the stack up of deviations with polyhedra

Under the consideration of rigid parts, the defects propagation in a mechanical system can be determined by the way the constituted parts are mated. The cumulative stack-up of geometric deviations between any couple of surfaces of an assembly can be modeled with polyhedra. The set of required operations is determined according to the topological structure of the assembly.

When parts are joined in series, defects accumulate. This can be simulated by calculating the Minkowski sums of the polyhedra. When parts are mated with multiple contacts, defects counteract between them. In this case, the intersection of the respective polyhedra is computed. After reducing the mechanical system by applying these operations as needed, the final polyhedron is obtained. Then, the functional condition can be verified by checking if the final polyhedron is contained within the functional one [89].

Serial architectures

If several parts are mated in a serial configuration, the cumulative stack-up of deviations can be calculated through the Minkowski sum of the geometric and contact polyhedra involved in the tolerance chain.

Due to their unbounded nature, the Minkowski sum of polyhedra is challenging from the computational and algorithmic point of view. In [45], the authors proposed to virtually limit the displacements related to the DoFs of the tolerances joints and the degrees of invariance of the toleranced features by introducing additional facets called caps and creating a capped polytope, Figure 3.6. However, adding cap half-spaces modifies the topology of the operands and increases their complexity. In addition, as a result of the accumulation of DoFs along the tolerance chain, after each sum the complexity of the resulting polytope worsens until becoming far too significant so that its calculation time consumes most of the computational resources.

In [89], the authors propose to manipulate simplified sets of constraints by excluding the straight lines derived from the unbounded displacements and to sum the underlying polytopes of the polyhedra. This method reduces the complexity of the operands, hence the calculation time and the probabilities of having numerical problems during the calculations.

The prismatic polyhedral approach takes advantage of the straight lines of the polyhedra operands and calculates the



Figure 3.6: Since a polytope cannot be unbounded, two cap half-spaces have to be added in order to bound t_x at the infinite, creating a capped polytope

sum of two prismatic polyhedra operands Γ_1 and Γ_2

$$\Gamma_{1} = P_{1} \oplus \sum_{i=1}^{k} \Delta_{i}(\Gamma_{1}) = P_{1} \oplus C_{1}, \quad P_{1} \subset H_{P_{1}} = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} U_{i}$$

$$\Gamma_{2} = P_{2} \oplus \sum_{i=k+1}^{l} \Delta_{i}(\Gamma_{2}) = P_{2} \oplus C_{2}, \quad P_{2} \subset H_{P_{2}} = \bigcap_{i=k+1}^{l} U_{i}$$

with $U_{i} = \Delta_{i}^{\perp} \forall i \in \{1, ..., l\}$

as the sum of the projection of their underlying polytopes on the subspace $H_{P_1} \cap H_{P_2}$ plus their respective straight lines:

$$\Gamma_{1} \oplus \Gamma_{2} = \pi_{H_{P_{1}} \cap H_{P_{2}}}(P_{1}) \oplus \pi_{H_{P_{1}} \cap H_{P_{2}}}(P_{2}) \oplus \sum_{i=1}^{l} \Delta_{i}(\Gamma_{1}) \oplus \sum_{i=1}^{l} \Delta_{i}(\Gamma_{2})$$
(3.5)

where π_H is the orthogonal projection on *H*.

As for the sum of the two projected polytopes, in [90] the authors propose an algorithm that calculates the Minkowski sum of polytopes in \mathbb{R}^n taking advantage of their duality property. This property states that the normal fan of a Minkowski sum of two polytopes $P_1 \oplus P_2$ is the common refinement of the normal fan of its summands [88], see Definition 3.1.6:

$$\mathcal{N}(P_1 \oplus P_2) = \mathcal{N}(P_1) \land \mathcal{N}(P_2) \tag{3.6}$$

The calculation of the common refinement of the normal fans of two polytopes is made by intersecting their polyhedral cones.

Example: Sum of polyhedra

The Figure 3.7 represents the sum between the polyhedra Γ_c and Γ_t . For the purpose of representability, those polyhedra are contained in the 3d subspace spanned by $[t_y, r_z, t_x]$. As stated in the Definition 3.1.5, Γ_c and Γ_t can be decomposed as:

$$\Gamma_c = P_c \oplus \sum_{i=1}^{l} \Delta_i(\Gamma_c)$$
$$\Gamma_t = P_t \oplus \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Delta_j(\Gamma_t)$$

Definition 3.1.6 (Normal fan) The normal fan $\mathcal{N}(P)$ of a polytope P of \mathbb{R}^n is defined as the set of all the dual cones of P (Definition 3.1.7).

Definition 3.1.7 (Dual polyhedral cone) *A dual polyhedral cone* $C_D(v)$ *of a j-face v is de-fined as the positive linear combination of outer normals of its corresponding facets.*

 $C_D(v) = \left\{ \sum \alpha_i \vec{n}_i, \, \alpha_i \ge 0 \right\}$



Figure 3.7: Sum of two polyhedra

in order to sum these two polyhedra, it is needed to project both polytopes onto their common subspace to add them:

$$P_{\text{sum}} = \pi_{H_{P_c} \cap H_{P_t}}(P_c) \oplus \pi_{H_{P_c} \cap H_{P_t}}(P_t)$$

Finally, the sum between Γ_c and Γ_t gives a polyhedron that is the result of extruding P_{sum} along the straight lines of both operands.

$$\Gamma_{\text{sum}} = \Gamma_c \oplus \Gamma_t$$

$$\Gamma_{\text{sum}} = P_{\text{sum}} \oplus \sum_{i=1}^l \Delta_i(\Gamma_c) \oplus \sum_{i=1}^k \Delta_i(\Gamma_t)$$

Parallel architectures

The interaction of the geometric deviations when parts are mated in parallel can be calculated as the intersection of the respective polyhedra derived from the contact chain.

The intersection of two prismatic polyhedra of \mathbb{R}^n can be calculated adding the intersection of their projections on their added subspace with their common straight lines:

$$\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2 = \left(\pi_{H_{P_1} \oplus H_{P_2}}(\Gamma_1) \cap \pi_{H_{P_1} \oplus H_{P_2}}(\Gamma_2) \right) \oplus C_1 \cap C_2$$

if we consider $\Psi = H_{P_1} \oplus H_{P_2}$

$$\Gamma_{1} \cap \Gamma_{2} = \left(\pi_{\Psi}(\Gamma_{1}) \cap \pi_{\Psi}(\Gamma_{2})\right)$$
$$\oplus \sum_{i=1}^{l} \Delta_{i}(\Gamma_{1}) \cap \sum_{i=1}^{k} \Delta_{i}(\Gamma_{2})$$
(3.7)

$$\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2 = \left(\pi_{\Psi}(\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2)\right) \oplus \sum_{i=1}^l \Delta_i(\Gamma_1) \cap \sum_{i=1}^k \Delta_i(\Gamma_2) \quad (3.8)$$

In the general case, the computation of the intersection polyhedra requires joining together the half-spaces of the operands and removing the redundant-ones.

Example: Intersection of polyhedra

In the Figure 3.8 the intersection between the polyhedra

 Γ_c and Γ_t is represented. The first step to intersect the polyhedra is to project the operands onto the added subspace of their polytopes. In this case, the result of adding the sub-spaces of the polytopes is the complete subspace spanned by $[t_y, r_z, t_x]$. Hence, the result of the intersection is a polytope and it is:

$$\Gamma_{int} = \Gamma_c \cap \Gamma_t$$

$$\Gamma_{int} = \left(\pi_{H_{P_c} \oplus H_{P_t}}(\Gamma_c) \cap \pi_{H_{P_c} \oplus H_{P_t}}(\Gamma_t)\right)$$

3.1.2 Compliance with the functional requirement

The tolerance analysis process aims to verify if the product meets its functional requirements according to the propagation of the defects of its components. In the prismatic polyhedral approach, the requirements satisfaction can be verified if the calculated polyhedron, containing the cumulative stack-up of variations, fits inside the functional polyhedron.

Considering Γ_R and Γ_{FC} as the resulting and functional polyhedron, respectively:

$$\Gamma_{R} = P_{R} \oplus \sum_{i=1}^{k} \Delta_{i} = P_{R} \oplus C_{R}$$

$$\Gamma_{FC} = P_{FC} \oplus \sum_{j=1}^{l} \Delta_{j} = P_{FC} \oplus C_{FC}$$

The verification of the inclusion of the resulting polyhedron inside the functional one can be done in a two steps approach:

 check if the space generated by the sum of the straightlines of the resulting polyhedron is contained in the space formed by the sum of the straight-lines coming from the functional polyhedron:

$$C_R \subseteq C_{\rm FC} \tag{3.9}$$



Figure 3.8: Intersection of two polyhedra

2. verify the inclusion of the polytope coming from the resulting polyhedron inside the one coming from the functional one.

$$P_R \subseteq P_{\rm FC} \tag{3.10}$$

The first step consists in verifying the *Kinematic compliance* of the two unbounded sets while the second step verifies the *tolerance compliance* [46]. If the kinematic compliance is not achieved, it means that there is at least one DoF that prevents the respect of the functional condition and the mechanism itself needs to be modified. If the kinematic compliance is met, the second step can be verified by quantifying the inclusion of the resulting polyhedron, Γ_R , inside the polyhedron that defines the functional condition, Γ_{FC} . If such an inclusion is satisfied the minimum distance between the two operands is computed. Otherwise, the maximum distance between the functional one and the points of Γ_R located outside Γ_{FC} is calculated.

Since we work in 1 to 6 dimensions, the distance that is calculated is in reality the magnitude of a vector, and this value is hard to interpret because it can have units of angle and/or of length. However, this distance can help us to quantify the inclusion or non-inclusion of the result inside the functional polyhedron.

The functional polyhedron Γ_{FC} can be seen as a weighted Minkowski sum between two operands, Γ'_{H_1} and Γ'_{H_2} , deriving from the surfaces related to the functional condition. We will call those surfaces *handle surfaces*.

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = \Gamma_{\rm H_1}' \oplus \Gamma_{\rm H_2}' \tag{3.11}$$

Assuming that the tolerance zones of the handle surfaces are centered around the nominal surface, the operands can be written as follow:

$$\Gamma'_{H_1} = \bigcap_{i=1}^k \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^6 : \frac{t_{f_1}}{2} + a_{i_1} x_1 + \dots + a_{i_6} x_6 \ge 0 \right\}$$

$$\Gamma'_{H_2} = \bigcap_{j=1}^l \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^6 : \frac{t_{f_2}}{2} + a_{j_1} x_1 + \dots + a_{j_6} x_6 \ge 0 \right\}$$
(3.12)

where t_{f_1} and t_{f_2} are the respective functional tolerances. In practice, these functional tolerances are very often equal (i.e. combined zone concept from ISO) or one of them is null (i.e. datum) [23, 24]. From Equation 3.11 and Equation 3.12, we can obtain:

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = \frac{1}{2} t_{f_1} \Gamma_{\rm H_1} \oplus \frac{1}{2} t_{f_2} \Gamma_{\rm H_2} \begin{cases} \Gamma_{\rm H_1} &= \bigcap_{i=1}^k \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^6 : 1 + a_{i_1} x_1 + \dots + a_{i_6} x_6 \ge 0 \right\} \\ \Gamma_{\rm H_2} &= \bigcap_{j=1}^l \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^6 : 1 + a_{j_1} x_1 + \dots + a_{j_6} x_6 \ge 0 \right\} \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

Finally, the weighted Minkowski sum can be written as follows:

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = t_f [k_1 . \Gamma_{\rm H_1} \oplus k_2 . \Gamma_{\rm H_2}] \text{ with } k_1 \ge 0, k_2 \ge 0, k_1 + k_2 \ne 0$$
(3.14)

Since the multiplication of a polyhedron by a scalar is distributive over the Minkowski sum [91], for two real positive numbers λ and μ and for any two polyhedra Γ_A and Γ_B , the Minkowski sum satisfies the following properties

$$\lambda(\Gamma_A \oplus \Gamma_B) = \lambda\Gamma_A \oplus \lambda\Gamma_B$$

(\lambda + \mu)\Gamma_A = \lambda \Gamma_A \Ho \mu\Gamma_A (3.15)

Applying the former properties in Equation 3.14, the t_f term can be scaled. If the ratio k_1/k_2 is kept constant, the topology of the resultant polyhedron is maintained and all the result that can be obtained are homothetic to each other.

The Algorithm 1 presents the strategy to verify the compliance of the resulting polyhedron Γ_R inside the functional polyhedron Γ_{FC} , and it allows to find an optimal tolerance $t_{f_{circ}}$ for the handle surfaces, starting from an initial tolerance t_f . The tolerance $t_{f_{circ}}$ can be seen as an indicator of the quality of the result, since the deviation $|t_{f_{circ_i}} - t_{f_i}|$ is proportional to the inclusion or the non inclusion of Γ_R inside Γ_{FC} .

In the Algorithm 1, the tolerance is a function of the distance (D) between the two operands, which means that the tolerance is going to increase or decrease proportionally to this distance.



Figure 3.9: The result is included inside the target but there is room for optimization



Figure 3.10: The result is not included inside the target hence the tolerances must be modified



Figure 3.11: The result is included inside the target and it "touches" the boundary

Algorithm 1: Including Γ_R into Γ_{FC} : verification and fitting [57] **Data:** Γ_R , k_1 , Γ_1 , k_2 , Γ_2 , t_f , δ **Result:** $t_{f_{\text{circ}}}$ such that $\Gamma_R \in \Gamma_{\text{FC}}$ 1 Build the functional polyhedron: $\Gamma_{FC} = t_f(k_1.\Gamma_1 \oplus k_2.\Gamma_2);$ ² Let { Δ_i } be the set of straight lines of Γ_{FC} ; ³ Let { Δ_i } be the set of straight lines of Γ_R ; 4 if $\{\sum_i \beta_i \Delta_i\} \subset \{\sum_i \alpha_i \Delta_i\}$ then // The kinematic compliance is verified Check the inclusion: $\Gamma_R \subset \Gamma_{FC}$; 5 if $\Gamma_R \subset \Gamma_{FC}$ then 6 // The tolerance compliance is achieved Compute the distance (D_{\min}^{a}) ; (D_{\min}^{a}) minimum distance between Γ_{FC} and Γ_{R} ; 7 8 Consider a value $\delta > 0$ to scale up Γ_{FC} ; 9 $\Gamma'_{\rm FC} = (t_f + \delta)[k_1.\Gamma_1 \oplus k_2.\Gamma_2];$ 10 Compute the distance (D_{\min}^b) ; 11 (D_{\min}^{b}) minimum distance between Γ_{FC}' and Γ_{R} ; 12 Compute $t_{f_{\text{circ}}} = t_f - \frac{D_{\min}^a}{D_{\min}^b - D_{\min}^a} \delta;$ 13 else 14 if $\Gamma_R \not\subset \Gamma_{FC}$ then 15 // The tolerance compliance is not achieved Compute the distance (D_{\max}^a) ; 16 (D^a_{max}) maximum distance between Γ_{FC} and a 17 point of Γ_R located outside Γ_{FC} ; Consider a value δ , $t_f > \delta > 0$ to scale down 18 $\Gamma'_{\rm FC} = (t_f - \delta)[k_1.\Gamma_1 \oplus k_2.\Gamma_2];$ 19 Compute the distance (D_{\max}^b) ; 20 (D^b_{\max}) maximum distance between $\Gamma'_{\rm FC}$ and a 21 point of Γ_R located outside Γ_{FC} ; Compute $t_{f_{\text{circ}}} = t_f + \frac{D_{\text{max}}^a}{D_{\text{max}}^b - D_{\text{max}}^a} \delta;$ 22 end 23 end 24 25 else // The inclusion cannot be achieved 26 end

The calculation of the *tolerance of circumscription* only makes sense if the two polyhedra are kinematically compliant (see Equation 3.9):

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC_{circ}} = t_{f_{\rm circ}} [k_1 . \Gamma_{\rm H_1} \oplus k_2 . \Gamma_{\rm H_2}], \ \Gamma_R \subset \Gamma_{\rm FC_{circ}}, \ \Gamma_R \cap \Gamma_{\rm FC_{circ}} \neq \emptyset.$$
(3.16)

where $\Gamma_{FC_{circ}}$ is the circumscribed polyhedron to Γ_R .

After checking the kinematic compliance, the polyhedron Γ_R may or may not be inside the functional polyhedron Γ_{FC} . The best functional tolerances for both scenarios are $t_{f_{circ1}}$ and $t_{f_{circ2}}$, respectively:

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{if } \Gamma_R \subset \Gamma_{\text{FC}}, t_{f_{circ1}} = 2k_1.t_{f_{circ}} \leq t_{f_1}, t_{f_{circ2}} = 2k_2.t_{f_{circ}} \leq t_{f_2} \\ \text{if } \Gamma_R \not \subset \Gamma_{\text{FC}}, t_{f_{circ1}} = 2k_1.t_{f_{circ}} \geq t_{f_1}, t_{f_{circ2}} = 2k_2.t_{f_{circ}} \geq t_{f_2} \end{array}$$

The former relationships show that the difference between the optimal functional tolerances $t_{f_{circi}}$ and the actual functional tolerances t_{fi} is proportional to the inclusion of Γ_R inside Γ_{FC} . Hence, this difference can be used as an indicator of how well the mechanism meets the functional condition.

Example: Compliance test

In order to exemplify the tolerance compliance test process, let us consider two polyhedra Γ_R and Γ_{FC} , corresponding to a resulting polyhedron and a functional one, respectively:

$$\Gamma_R = P_R \oplus C_R$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = P_{\rm FC} \oplus C_{\rm FC}$$

in this application $C_R = C_{FC}$, then the kinematic compliance condition is met since $C_R \subseteq C_{FC}$ (see Equation 3.9), and the polytopes of both operands are in the same subspace. Assuming that P_R and P_{FC} are 2-polytopes in the subspace spanned by [u, v], it is easy to check the tolerance compliance by visualizing both polytopes. When verifying the inclusion of the resulting polytope inside the functional one, there are two possible results:

- 1. The functional polytope contains the resulting polytope, $P_R \subset P_{FC}$, so the tolerance compliance is achieved and the mechanism meets the functional condition, see Figure 3.9.
- 2. The functional polytope does not fully enclose the resulting polytope, $P_R \not\subset P_{FC}$ which means that with the given set of tolerances the system does not respect the functional condition, see Figure 3.10.

In any of the two former cases the tolerances of circumscription can be calculated, see Figure 3.11, in order to find either the level of over inclusion or of non-inclusion. In the first case, the minimum distance between P_{FC} and P_R is calculated and the functional polytope is scaled down. In the second case, the maximum distance between P_{FC} and the vertex of P_R that are not included is calculated and the functional polytope is scaled up.

3.2 Case study: Prismatic polyhedra approach

In order to illustrate the functioning of the prismatic polyhedron method described along this chapter, a complete tolerance analysis for a high-resolution spectrometer is presented. This spectrometer uses a magnetic pole to monitor the ions in the ion beam according to their mass-to-charge ratio, ions with different mass-to-charge ratios will follow different paths and reach different positions on a detector or a photographic plate [92]. By using the spectrometer to count ions in an ion beam, it is possible to obtain information about the number, type, distribution, and arrangement of atoms in the sample. This information can be useful for various applications, such as material science, geology, biology, and medicine.

The resolution of the spectrometer presented in Figure 3.12 is strongly correlated with the location between the cylindrical surface of the magnetic pole 3 (surface 3, 7) and the ion beam. In the following, we will assume that the ion beam is the axis of the cylindrical surface (1, 12) made up of two coaxial cylindrical surfaces from the experience chamber (1), see Figure 3.13.

The objective of the simulation according to the functional condition (FC), is to control the position of the handle surfaces (3, 7 and 1, 12) considering manufacturing and contact deviation on the mating parts. In other words, the relative orientation, variables $[r_z, t_z, r_y]$, between these surfaces has to be controlled. This constraint defines the functional polyhedron Γ_{FC} that is built through the Minkowski sum of the operands deriving from the handle surfaces (Equation 3.14), with $t_f = 0.4$ and $k_1 = k_2 = 1/2$.



```
Figure 3.12: Spectrometer - CAD model
```

The topological model helps to determine the set of operands and operations required to calculate the cumulative stack-up of deviations between the two handle surfaces. In this graph, see Figure 3.14, nodes designated as (α, β) represent the nominal model of the part α when $\beta = 0$, and the substitute surfaces when $\beta \neq 0$, following the nomenclature illustrated in Figure 3.13. Each edge of the graph represents geometric deviations or contact deviations, depending on whether it connects nodes within the same part or nodes from different parts. These deviations can be represented by geometric polyhedra for geometric deviations and contact polyhedra for contact deviations [45].

The set of operations required to simulate the relative position of the handle surfaces can be determined by doing the graph reduction as follows:

$$\Gamma_R = \Gamma_{3,7} \oplus \Gamma_{3,0/2,0} \oplus \Gamma_{1,12} \tag{3.17}$$

with:

$$\Gamma_{3,0/2,0} = \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-a} \cap \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-b} \cap \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-c} \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-a} = \Gamma_{3,4} \oplus \Gamma_{3,4/2,4} \oplus \Gamma_{2,4} \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-b} = \Gamma_{3,5} \oplus \Gamma_{3,5/2,5} \oplus \Gamma_{2,5} \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-c} = \Gamma_{3,6} \oplus \Gamma_{3,6/2,6} \oplus \Gamma_{2,6}$$

$$(3.18)$$



Figure 3.13: Parts and surfaces enumeration of the spectrometer

and with:

$$\Gamma_{2,0/1,12} = \Gamma_{1,12-a} \cap \Gamma_{1,12-b} \Gamma_{2,0/1,12-a} = (\Gamma_{2,1} \oplus \Gamma_{2,1/1,12}) \cap (\Gamma_{2,2} \oplus \Gamma_{2,2/1,12})$$
(3.19)

$$\Gamma_{2,0/1,12-b} = \Gamma_{2,3} \oplus \Gamma_{2,3/1,3} \oplus \Gamma_{1,3} \oplus \Gamma_{1,12}$$

The projections of the geometrical polyhedra in the sub-space of the bounded displacements of the contact polyhedron of each edge is homothetic. Due to this, the Minkowski sum of the three elements of each edge is a homothetic transformation of its contact polyhedra and Equation 3.18 and Equation 3.19 are simplified and rewrited to:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-a} &= \frac{\lambda_2}{2} \Gamma_{3,4} \oplus \frac{\lambda_3}{2} \Gamma_{2,4}^* \\ \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-b} &= \frac{\lambda_1}{2} \Gamma_{3,5/2,5} \\ \Gamma_{3,0/2,0-c} &= \frac{\lambda_1}{2} \Gamma_{3,6/2,6} \\ \Gamma_{2,0/1,12-a} &= \frac{\lambda_0}{2} \Gamma_{2,1/1,12} \cap \frac{\lambda_0}{2} \Gamma_{2,2/1,12} \\ \Gamma_{2,0/1,12-b} &= \frac{\lambda_5}{2} \Gamma_{2,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_4}{2} \Gamma_{1,3}^* \oplus \frac{\lambda_6}{2} \Gamma_{1,12} \end{split}$$

^{*} The contact between the two planar surfaces is a sliding contact, case (ii) described in Table 3.1. Hence these polyhedra can be ignored in the sum.



Figure 3.14: Contact graph of the spectrometer

<i>t</i> _{1,12}	0.02
$\emptyset D_{1,1}$	145
$d_{1,1_{U}}$	+0.148
$d_{1,1_L}$	+0.085
$\emptyset D_{1,2}$	138
$d_{1,2}_{U}$	+0.148
$d_{1,2_{L}}$	+0.085
<i>t</i> _{1,3}	0.02
	·

The reduction equation becomes then,

$$\Gamma_{R} = \frac{\lambda_{7}}{2} \Gamma_{3,7} \oplus \left(\left(\frac{\lambda_{2}}{2} \Gamma_{3,4} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{3}}{2} \Gamma_{2,4} \right) \cap \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2} \Gamma_{3,5/2,5} \cap \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2} \Gamma_{3,6/2,6} \right) \\ \oplus \left(\frac{\lambda_{0}}{2} \Gamma_{2,1/1,12} \cap \frac{\lambda_{0}}{2} \Gamma_{2,2/1,12} \cap \left(\frac{\lambda_{5}}{2} \Gamma_{2,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{4}}{2} \Gamma_{1,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{6}}{2} \Gamma_{1,12} \right) \right)$$

$$(3.20)$$

Table 3.2: Experience chamberdimensions and tolerances

$t_{2,12} (t_{2,1} = t_{2,2})$	0.01
	145
<i>d</i> _{2,1_<i>U</i>}	+0.068
<i>d</i> _{2,1_<i>L</i>}	+0.043
$\emptyset D_{2,2}$	138
<i>d</i> _{2,2_U}	+0.068
<i>d</i> _{2,2_L}	+0.043
<i>t</i> _{2,3}	+0.02
<i>t</i> _{2,4}	+0.02
$\emptyset D_{2,5} = \emptyset D_{2,6}$	18
$d_{2,5}U = d_{2,6}U$	+0.059
$d_{2,5_L} = d_{2,6_L}$	+0.032

Table 3.3: Massive part dimensions and tolerances

where each polyhedron operand is defined as

$$\Gamma = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{6} : 1 + a_{i_{1}}x_{1} + \dots + a_{i_{6}}x_{6} \ge 0 \right\}$$
(3.21)

and, λ_i with $i = 1 \cdots 7$ are the sums of the tolerances of each edge. Changing the value of the λ_i coefficients in Equation 3.20 results in a homothetic transformation of the operands without changing their topology.

The tolerance and dimensional limits are taken into account based on the application of the spectrometer and the manufacturing processes that are usually used on the parts (see Figure 3.15, Figure 3.16 and Figure 3.17, and Table 3.2, Table 3.3 and Table 3.5). For the pin and the holes, the clearance is calculated taking into account the most undesirable condition, Least Material Condition (LMC). In the LMC, it is considered the maximum size for the holes and the minimum



Figure 3.15: Experience Chamber Drawing

size for the shafts, in this case we used the fit E8/p6 based on the system ISO 286-2. Table 3.4 presents the values for the λ_i coefficients in Equation 3.20.

All the operands involved in Equation 3.20 were created with the open-source software PolitoCAT [93] and calculated at the point M (0, 0, 0). The amount of half-spaces of each operand is presented in Table 3.6.

λ_0	0.115
λ_1	0.61
λ_2	0.00
λ_3	0.02
λ_4	0.02
λ_5	0.02
λ_6	0.02
λ_7	0.02

Table 3.4: Values for the λ_i coefficients

t _{3,4}	0.00
$\emptyset D_{3,5} = \emptyset D_{3,6}$	18
$d_{1,1_U}$	0.059
$d_{1,1_L}$	0.032
$t_{3,5} = t_{3,6}$	0.01
R _{3,7}	23
t _{3,7}	0.02

Table 3.5: Magnetic pole dimensions and tolerances





Figure 3.16: Massive part drawing



Figure 3.17: Magnetic pole drawing

Figure 3.18 shows the result of the tolerancing analysis projected in the subspace spanned by $[r_y, r_z, t_z]$. The chosen subspace contains only the bounded displacements of the resulting operand, meaning that no straight-lines shown in the projection, these figure is just partial representation of the polyhedron since it originally belongs to \mathbb{R}^6 .

Since both polyhedra have the same straight-lines, $C_R = C_{FC}$, the kinematic compliance is satisfied. The tolerance compliance can be verified by checking the inclusion of P_R inside P_{FC} . In the Figure 3.19, it is possible to see that the resulting polytope is over-included on the functional condition. When the tolerance of circumscription is calculated we obtain:

$$t_{\rm circ} \approx 0.112 \tag{3.22}$$

The results suggest that the system has more rigorous tolerances than necessary. Roughly it will be possible to increase all the tolerances by a factor of 3.5 and still maintain the tolerance compliance.

Table 3.7 shows a summary of the calculation time required to run the tolerance reduction process. . In the table it is possible to observe that the sums are the most time consuming operations out of all, and especially the last sum consumes almost half of the time during the tolerance reduction process. The identification of the operations on the table is done as follows from the Equation 3.20:

$$Sum_{1} = \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2}\Gamma_{3,4} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{3}}{2}\Gamma_{2,4}$$

$$Sum_{2} = \frac{\lambda_{5}}{2}\Gamma_{2,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{4}}{2}\Gamma_{1,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{6}}{2}\Gamma_{1,12}$$

$$\Gamma_{R} = \frac{\lambda_{7}}{2}\Gamma_{3,7} \oplus \left(Sum_{1} \cap \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2}\Gamma_{3,5/2,5} \cap \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2}\Gamma_{3,6/2,6}\right)$$

$$\oplus \left(\frac{\lambda_{0}}{2}\Gamma_{2,1/1,12} \cap \frac{\lambda_{0}}{2}\Gamma_{2,2/1,12} \cap Sum_{2}\right)$$

Operation	Time (s)	%
Sum_1	1.68	21.0
Sum ₂	1.58	19.8
Intersections	0	0
Final sum (Γ_R)	4.70	58.9
Tolerance reduction	7.98	_

Table 3.7: Calculation time(Computations performed with
the library politopix [93] with an
Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU@ 2.10GHz)

Surface	Half-spaces
3,7	12
3,4	28
3,5/2,5	6
3,6/2,6	6
2,1/2,12	6
2,2/2,12	6
2,3	44
1,12	24

Table 3.6: Amount of half-spacesfor each operand involved on thetolerance analysis



Figure 3.18: 3d representation of the resulting polyhedron Γ_R



Figure 3.19: Verifying the inclusion of the resulting polyhedron (Γ_R) inside the functional one (Γ_{FC}) and improving the fitting: a) The resulting polyhedron is included into the target but t_f can be decreased until reaching $t_{f_{circ}}$; b) The resulting polyhedron is included into the target and $t_f = t_{f_{circ}}$

The increase of the complexity of the polyhedra after each sum explains why sums are the most time consuming operation. Moreover, if the number of discretization points used to generate the input operands increases, the calculation time will also increase and it can be expected that the final sum will consume more computational resources.

3.3 Summary

This chapter explains how to represent the restrictions that the tolerance zones impose on the toleranced features by using 6-dimensional sets of constraints. Since most of these sets of constraints are unbounded, the prismatic polyhedral approach is reviewed, as it can work directly with the unbounded sets of constraints without having any mathematical nor computational problems (see Figure 3.20).

The prismatic polyhedral method uses the property of decomposition of geometric and contact polyhedra into a sum of a polytope and a polyhedral cone to simplify the operations between operands. This method allows to reduce the tolerance of a mechanical system effectively, since each polyhedron



Figure 3.20: Tolerance analysis with the polyhedral approach

contains only the facets that are of mechanical interest. Therefore, each polyhedron has the minimum number of faces and the dimension of the subspace is as small as possible.

To illustrate the functioning of the prismatic polyhedral method, a case study consisting on a spectrometer was presented. The equation to reduce the mechanical system was deduced from the contact graph and simplified by taking into account the homothety between some of the operands. The result obtained after running one simulation with the given operands and set of tolerances represents all the possible relative positions of the surface involved in the functional condition.

The methods based on sets of constraints (i.e. prismatic polyhedral approach) have the advantage of being robust enough to handle even over-constrained mechanisms, as shown in the given example. However, since the prismatic polyhedral method is feature-based, the result of a tolerance analysis process is highly impacted by the discretization of the features of the mechanism. To obtain accurate results, it is essential to conduct a convergence analysis to determine the required number of nodes. Furthermore, in the reduction process, the last sum takes the largest part of the calculation time, and this phenomenon can worsen if the number of discretization points increases.

Finally, thanks to the result obtained from this work, and all the previous efforts, now it has been possible to develop through a collaboration with "Aquitaine Science Transfert" (AST) a software (PolitoCAT_gui) that performs all the process shwon in Figure 3.20. This software allows the user to interact with the CAD model, to generate the contact graph and to execute the tolerance analysis, see Figure 3.21. The CAD model can be read from any CAD commercial software through the Step interface (AP 203). As a result the user gets to know if the functional requirement is satisfied, and the value of the tolerance of circumscription. All the work presented in this chapter was published in [57].



Figure 3.21: PolitoCAT_gui: Complete tolerance analysis analysis graphical tool. CAD model display, contact graph and tolerance analysis

Model reduction 4

The methods based on set of constraints have as main advantage that they can model most of the cases in mechanical design, including over-constrained mechanisms, and that all the possible deviations on the handle surfaces due to the interactions in the assembly can be modeled with just one simulation. However, one of the main drawbacks of the methods based on set of constraints is that they are time-consuming due the complexity of the operands and the operations between them (specifically the Minkowski sum). As presented in Chapter 3, the prismatic polyhedral approach has been developed after a lot of works searching for improving the calculation time and decreasing the computational problems while dealing with set of constraints. In [94] and [57], it is possible to see the evolution from capped polytopes to polyhedra and verify through some practical examples the diminution on calculation time.

The Minkowski sum of two or more sets of constraints entails the propagation of the facets of the input operands. The calculation time will increase exponentially if the complexity of the operands increases. Since prismatic polyhedra method is feature-based, the complexity of the operands is related to the amount of discretization points used to represent the surfaces and the contacts. These will have a high impact on the calculation time and the quality of the result. Furthermore, during the process of tolerance stack-up modeling, there are usually several sums and intersections that are made. The last sum involves the result of all the calculations made plus the two handle surfaces making it the more complex operation out of all the process.

4.1 Discretization and operand complexity

When modeling set of constraints, the nominal surface has to be discretized in *m* points *P* and a maximum of $k_{max} = 2m$ half-spaces are obtained, see Chapter 3. The intersection of those k_{max} half-spaces generates the prismatic polyhedra

4.1 Discretization and operand complexity . 45 4.2 The final sum in a tolerancing analysis problem 50 4.3 Case study: Simplified model 53

4.4 Summary 60

that represents the space of all the possible deviations of the given feature.

Performing the Minkowski sum of a set of two or more prismatic polyhedra operands implies summing their underlying polytopes. The sum of a set of polytopes gives as a result a polytope that is topologically more complex than the operands since it may have far more vertices than any of them. As found in [90] a vertex of the sum can only be obtained by summing vertices of its operands, which give us the following property:

$$N_{\rm sum} \le N_{Msum} = \prod_{i=1}^n N_i$$

where N_{sum} is the number of vertex of the result, N_{Msum} is the maximum amount of vertices that the resulting polytope can potentially have, *n* is the amount of operands to be summed and N_i corresponds to the amount of vertices of each operand.

Example: Vertices of a polytope coming from a sum

In order to illustrate the problem of the increase in the amount of vertices after the operation of sum, let's imagine the sum of three 1d polytopes, Figure 4.1.

The sum of two segments of line will result in a parallelogram, and finally the sum of this parallelogram plus a segment outside of the plane will generate a parallelepiped with 8 vertices, Figure 4.2:

$$N_{Msum} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} N_n = 2 \cdot 2 \cdot 2 = 8$$

In the particular case in which two of the segments are collinear, Figure 4.3, the sum of the three segments will give as a result a parallelogram with only 4 vertices Figure 4.4.

In order to determine the amount of discretization points needed for a given surface, it is important to identify its type of boundary. For linear-boundary surfaces, the discretization points are equal to the vertices. In the case of non-linear-







Figure 4.2: Result of a minkowski sum of three 1d polytopes in a 3d space



Figure 4.3: Minkowski sum of three 1d polytopes, where two operands are parallel to each other



Figure 4.4: Result of the minkowski sum of three 1d polytopes, with two parallel operands

boundary surfaces, a big amount of discretization points will lead to operands that are closer to a theoretical representation of the variations of the given surface.

Example: The effect of the discretization of a circular surface

Let us imagine a circular surface on the plane [x, y] with a diameter of d = 30mm and with a tolerance of t = 0.1mm. The domain that represents all its possible deviations lies in the 3d space $[t_z, r_x, r_y]$ and it can be represented by double cone, two cones stuck together at their wide end. In theory, the shape and dimensions of a polytope related to this surface under those characteristics should tend to the double cone while the amount of discretization points approaches the infinite. The volume of the polytope can be taken as a parameter to compare it with the double cone and to visualize this convergence.

The volume of the double cone is given by the diameter of the wide end of the cones:

$$D = \frac{2t}{d} R_{coeff}$$

and the height of each of them:

$$h = \frac{t}{2}T_{coeff}$$

where, R_{coeff} and T_{coeff} are two homogenization coefficients that are usually $R_{coeff} = 100$ and $T_{coeff} = 1$. The theoretical volume of the polytope should be then:

$$V = \frac{\pi r^2 h}{3} \approx 1.164 \times 10^{-2} mm \cdot rad^2$$

In PolitoCAT [93], it is possible to model the polytopes that represent the subspace of deviations of the surface with a given discretization.

Figure 4.6 shows how the variation of the volume due to the amount of discretization points is significant when the discretization is rough and become less important when the discretization is more precise.



Figure 4.5: Comparisson of the result with different amount of nodes (in blue) vs the double cone (in red)

In Figure 4.5 it is possible to notice that increasing the amount of discretization points decreases the size of the calculated polytope. Then it becomes closer to the expected theoretical result.

The example shows that a rough discretization creates larger polytopes. This may give a conservative result for tolerance analysis simulation. One may be tempted to assume that a finer discretization would also satisfy the functional condition, if this result is compliant, but this is not guaranteed. It is necessary to take into account that the functional polyhedron will also improve with a finer discretization of the handle surfaces.

In some specific cases, when calculating the set of constraints of a surface or a contact, some nodes will generate redundant half-spaces. In those cases, increasing the number of nodes does not imply an improvement of the polyhedron operand.

Example: Ball-and-cylinder pair

The ball-and-cylinder pair is an example of contact type in which some discretization points will generate redundant constraints. In a ball-and-cylinder joint with a clearance of *c*, the contact surface is a circle, hence to generate the



Figure 4.6: Variation of the volume with respect to the amount of discretization points

polyhedron we will need to discretize this circle, see Figure 4.7.

Following Equation 3.2, for each point N_i with $i = 1, \dots, 6$ we have that:

$$-c/2 \le t_x \cos\theta + t_y \sin\theta \le c/2 \tag{4.1}$$

for the sine and cosine we have that:

$$\cos \theta = -\cos (\theta + \pi)$$
$$\sin \theta = -\sin (\theta + \pi)$$

In this example, each point generates two constraints. When two points are placed facing each other at an angle of π , the constraints generated by both points are identical. Hence, in the case of the ball-and-cylinder pair, when discretizing the contact surface, it is recommended to use an odd number of discretization points if the nodes are uniformly distributed. When using an even number of points, at least half of the constraints obtained with Equation 4.1 will be redundant.



Figure 4.7: Variation of the volume with respect to the amount of discretization points (the dashed lines represent the delimitation of the clearance zone)

Since some nodes can cause redundant half-spaces, for the convergence test we are going to use, as parameter of the complexity of the polyhedra, their number of half-spaces instead of the amount of discretization points used to represent the feature.

4.2 The final sum in a tolerancing analysis problem

In a general case, the last operation in a tolerance reduction process consists of a Minkowski sum of one or both handles plus the results of all the previous operations modeling the interactions of the the components of the mechanical system. Hence, to solve a tolerancing analysis problem is equivalent to check that:

$$\Gamma_R \subset \Gamma_{\rm FC} \tag{4.2}$$

where Γ_{FC} is calculated as an homothety of the sum of the two handle surfaces.

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = c \cdot \left(\frac{t_{\rm H_1}}{2} \Gamma_{\rm H_1} \oplus \frac{t_{\rm H_2}}{2} \Gamma_{\rm H_2}\right) \tag{4.3}$$

with t_{H_1} and t_{H_2} as the tolerances of the handle surfaces in the tolerance reduction process and c > 1. The term c is directly related with the value of the functional tolerance t_f and the values of k_1 and k_2 , from Equation 3.14 and Equation 4.3:

$$c = \frac{2t_f k_1}{t_{H_1}} = \frac{2t_f k_2}{t_{H_2}}$$
(4.4)

The calculation of Γ_R is done in one of the following ways:

1. when the two handles are added at the end since none of them interact with more than one surface at the same time, see Figure 4.8:

$$\Gamma_R = \Gamma_A \oplus \frac{t_{\mathrm{H}_1}}{2} \Gamma_{\mathrm{H}_1} \oplus \frac{t_{\mathrm{H}_2}}{2} \Gamma_{\mathrm{H}_2}$$
(4.5)

2. when one of the handles is involved in a previous operation (i.e. the Spectrometer, see Section 3.2)

$$\begin{cases} \Gamma_R = \Gamma_A \oplus \frac{t_{H_1}}{2} \Gamma_{H_1} \\ \Gamma_R = \Gamma_A \oplus \frac{t_{H_2}}{2} \Gamma_{H_2} \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

3. when the two handles are involved in previous operations and they are not added at the end.

$$\Gamma_R = \Gamma_A \tag{4.7}$$

Knowing that Γ_A is the result of a complete set of previous



Figure 4.8: Calculation of Γ_R as the Minkowski sum between Γ_A and the two handles

sums and intersections, it is expected it to be composed by many facets. Therefore, the calculation of the last Minkowski sum is potentially the most time consuming operation to perform during the tolerance reduction process. In order to simplify this operation, it will be convenient to prove that:

$$\Gamma_A \oplus \frac{t_{H_1}}{2} \Gamma_{H_1} \oplus \frac{t_{H_2}}{2} \Gamma_{H_2} \subset c \cdot \left(\frac{t_{H_1}}{2} \Gamma_{H_1} \oplus \frac{t_{H_2}}{2} \Gamma_{H_2}\right)$$
(4.8)

is equivalent to:

$$\Gamma_A \subset (c-1) \cdot \left(\frac{t_{\mathrm{H}_1}}{2} \Gamma_{\mathrm{H}_1} \oplus \frac{t_{\mathrm{H}_2}}{2} \Gamma_{\mathrm{H}_2}\right) \tag{4.9}$$

The former equivalence is going to be proved first with polytopes and then with polyhedra.

Proposition 4.2.1 *Let A and H be polytopes, let* $c \in \mathbb{R}, c > 1$ *H* + *A* \subset *c*.*H* \Leftrightarrow *A* \subset (*c* - 1)*H*

Proof. Lets assume that H + A ⊂ c.H, c ∈ ℝ, c > 1⇒ A ⊂ c.H - H according to [95] ⇒ A ⊂ (c - 1)H as c.H - H = (c - 1)H according to [96] Under the assumption that A ⊂ (c - 1)HLet x ∈ A and y ∈ H.

$$A \subset (c-1)H \Longrightarrow x \in (c-1)H$$

Hence $(x + y) \in (c - 1)H + H = cH$ which proves the second part.

Proposition 4.2.2 *Let* A *and* H *be prismatic polyhedra, let* $c \in \mathbb{R}, c > 1$

 $H + A \subset c.H \Leftrightarrow A \subset (c-1)H$

Proof. Let $\{\Delta_j(A)\}$ be the set of lines of the prismatic polyhedron *A*.

If *A* is a prismatic polyhedron: $A = \pi_{(\sum_j \Delta_j(A))^{\perp}}(A) + \sum_j \Delta_j(A)$ where $\pi_{(\sum_j \Delta_j(A))^{\perp}}(A) = P_A$ is a polytope. Following the same logic, we have $H = P_H + \sum_k \Delta_k(K)$.

Under the assumption that $H + A \subset c.H, c \in \mathbb{R}, c > 1$.

 $H + A \subset c.H \Rightarrow \sum_j \Delta_j(A) \subset \sum_k \Delta_k(H)$ as no straight line of $\sum_j \Delta_j(A)$ can be outside the set $\sum_k \Delta_k(H)$ to make sure the inclusion $H + A \subset c.H$ is respected.

 $H + A = P_A + P_H + \sum_k \Delta_k(H) \subset c \left(P_H + \sum_k \Delta_k(H) \right) = c \cdot P_H + \sum_k \Delta_k(H)$

The basic property of prismatic polyhedra (see Definition 3.1.5) states that

$$P_A + \sum_k \Delta_k(H) = \pi_{(\sum_k \Delta_k(H))^{\perp}}(P_A) + \sum_k \Delta_k(H)$$

so if

$$P'_A = \pi_{(\sum_k \Delta_k(H))^{\perp}}(P_A)$$

it is possible to say now that P'_A and P_H belong to the same space $(\sum_k \Delta_k(H))^{\perp}$.

So $P'_A + P_H + \sum_k \Delta_k(H) \subset c.P_H + \sum_k \Delta_k(H)$ and since $P'_A \in (\sum_k \Delta_k(H))^{\perp}$ and $P_H \in (\sum_k \Delta_k(H))^{\perp}$ it implies that $P'_A + P_H \subset c.P_H$ which means according to Proposition 4.2.1 that $P'_A \subset (c-1).P_H$

$$\left. \begin{array}{l} P_A' \subset (c-1).P_H \\ \sum_j \Delta_j(A) \subset \sum_k \Delta_k(H) \end{array} \right\} \Longrightarrow A \subset (c-1)H$$

Making the assumption that $A \subset (c-1).H$, $c \in \mathbb{R}$, c > 1.

 $\forall x \in A, x \in (c-1)H$ then $y \in H \Rightarrow (x+y) \in cH \Rightarrow A+H \subset cH$.

By means of the previous propositions it is possible to prove the equivalence between Equation 4.8 and Equation 4.9.

4.3 Case study: Simplified model

The case study in Section 3.2 used the minimum number of half-spaces for each operand, as shown in Table 3.6, based on the surface complexity. However, if the discretization of the surfaces is too rough, this result may not be accurate and more nodes may be needed. A convergence analysis was done to check the quality of the previous result. During the convergence analysis, a set of 9 simulations with different amounts of discretization points were performed. Each simulation was executed 10 times in order to get a better estimation of the calculation time for each operation.

Table 4.1 presents the amount of half-spaces that builds up each contact or geometrical polyhedron. Table 4.2 presents the average time for each simulation, and it is possible to see how the computation time increases with more discretization points. The columns Sum_1 , Sum_2 and Sum_F indicate the average amount of time spent on each sum during the simulation. The time spent on the intersections is not presented because it is close to 0 *s* and it can be neglected.

While the input operands become more complex due to a finer discretization, the last operation takes up more than 90% of the calculation time, as seen in Figure 4.9. This behavior

	3,7	3,4	3,5/2,5	3,6/2,6	2,1/2,12	2,2/2,12	2,3	1,12
Simulation 0	12	28	6	6	6	6	44	24
Simulation 1	20	36	10	10	10	10	56	40
Simulation 2	28	52	14	14	14	14	68	56
Simulation 3	36	60	18	18	18	18	80	72
Simulation 4	44	68	22	22	22	22	92	88
Simulation 5	52	84	26	26	26	26	104	104
Simulation 6	60	92	30	30	30	30	116	120
Simulation 7	68	108	34	34	34	34	128	136
Simulation 8	84	124	42	42	42	42	152	168

 Table 4.1: Amount of half-spaces for each operand during all the simulations performed.



Figure 4.9: Contribution in percentage of each Sum in the calculation time for each simulation (see Table 4.1)

shows that it is important to pay special attention to the last operation in the reduction process.

From the Proposition 4.2.2 it is possible to reduce the equation that models the system (Equation 3.20). Due to the topology of the problem, in this study case, it is possible to *reduce only one handle* and the reduction equation becomes then:

$$Sum_F = \left(Sum_1 \cap \frac{\lambda_1}{2}\Gamma_{3,5/2,5} \cap \frac{\lambda_1}{2}\Gamma_{3,6/2,6}\right)$$

$$\oplus \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{2}\Gamma_{2,1/1,12} \cap \frac{\lambda_0}{2}\Gamma_{2,2/1,12} \cap Sum_2\right)$$
(4.10)

TA71+h
VV ILII,
,

Table 4.2: Calculation time for each sum during every simulation process of tolerance reduction(Computations performed with the library politopix [93] with an Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2.10GHz).

		$T_{\rm circ}$			
	Sum_1	Sum_2	Sum_F	Total	
Simulation 0	1.68	1.58	4.70	8.0	0.1125
Simulation 1	1.74	1.73	9.31	12.8	0.1140
Simulation 2	1.89	2.49	25.13	29.5	0.1137
Simulation 3	2.01	2.95	49.42	54.4	0.1129
Simulation 4	2.14	3.11	89.66	94.9	0.1130
Simulation 5	2.39	3.42	187.95	193.8	0.1133
Simulation 6	2.44	3.97	341.76	348.2	0.1130
Simulation 7	2.68	4.65	595.60	602.9	0.1130
Simulation 8	2.73	6.51	1 337.69	1 346.9	0.1130

	Time(s)				T _{circ}
	Sum_1	Sum_2	Sum_F	Total	
Simulation 0	1.698	1.736	4.276	7.720	0.1125
Simulation 1	1.708	1.790	8.147	11.645	0.1140
Simulation 2	1.915	2.489	22.235	26.639	0.1137
Simulation 3	2.011	2.876	43.839	48.726	0.1129
Simulation 4	2.114	3.125	79.428	84.667	0.1130
Simulation 5	2.307	3.476	170.210	175.993	0.1133
Simulation 6	2.479	3.958	308.311	314.748	0.1130
Simulation 7	2.706	4.735	547.650	555.091	0.1130
Simulation 8	2.820	6.470	1 222.404	1 231.694	0.1130

Table 4.3: Calculation time for each sum during every simulation process of tolerance reduction *without* handles and tolerance of circumscription of the result of each simulation (Computations performed with the library politopix [93] with an Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2.10GHz).

$$Sum_{1} = \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2}\Gamma_{3,4} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{3}}{2}\Gamma_{2,4}$$
$$Sum_{2} = \frac{\lambda_{5}}{2}\Gamma_{2,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{4}}{2}\Gamma_{1,3} \oplus \frac{\lambda_{6}}{2}\Gamma_{1,12}$$

Since the handle 3.7 is being removed from the last operation (Sum_F) of the tolerance reduction, it is needed to modify the operand that models the functional condition. The new functional condition is then:

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = c \frac{t_{\rm H_1}}{2} \Gamma_{\rm H_1} \oplus (c-1) \cdot \frac{t_{\rm H_2}}{2} \Gamma_{\rm H_2}$$

and according to the Equation 4.4, if $k_1 = k_2 = 1/2$:

$$\Gamma_{\rm FC} = \frac{t_f}{2} \Gamma_{\rm H_1} \oplus \frac{1}{2} (t_f - t_{\rm H_2}) \Gamma_{\rm H_2}$$

The Table 4.3 displays the average time taken for each simulation from Table 4.1 following the equation Equation 4.10. Figure 4.10 shows that, with and without handles, the calculation time increases exponentially as the complexity of the operands increases. However, as expected, the amount of time spent on each simulation is less when excluding the handle 3.7 than when adding it at the end. The Table 4.4 shows that the calculation time of Sum_F decreases by an average of 10%, and the total calculation time is reduced by 9%.

In terms of the results obtained from each simulation, comparing Table 4.2 and Table 4.3 we can see that the value of the tolerance of circumscription for each simulation with and without handles is exactly the same. The Figure 4.11

			/ 777		
	% Time variation (Time handles/ Time No handles				
	Sum_1	Sum_2	Sum_F	Total	
Simulation 0	1%	10%	-9%	-3%	
Simulation 1	-2%	4%	-13%	-9%	
Simulation 2	2%	0%	-12%	-10%	
Simulation 3	0%	-2%	-11%	-10%	
Simulation 4	-1%	0%	-11%	-11%	
Simulation 5	-4%	2%	-9%	-9%	
Simulation 6	1%	0%	-10%	-10%	
Simulation 7	1%	2%	-8%	-8%	
Simulation 8	3%	-1%	-9%	-9%	
Average	0%	2%	-10%	-9%	

Table 4.4: Percentage of time variation between the model with both handles and the model without a handle (Computations performed with the library politopix [93] with an Intel(R) Xeon(R) Gold 6130 CPU @ 2.10GHz).



Figure 4.10: Calculation time with and without handles

illustrates that as the number of half-spaces on the input operands increases, the tolerance of circumscription for the result converges to a value close to 0.113. The tolerance of circumscription is measured in mm, hence having an oscillation of $\pm 2 \cdot 10^{-4} mm$ is not significant from a manufacturing point of view. From these results, it is possible to state that, in this particular case study, the best compromise between the quality of the result of the simulation and the calculation time is obtained with the operands of the *Simulation 3*.

From the cases stated in Equation 4.5, Equation 4.6 and Equation 4.7 we can know that the complexity of the last sum depends on the topology of the mechanical system, hence we can expect to have a more significant reduction on the calculation time in a mechanical system in which both handles can be subtracted, see Equation 4.5.



Figure 4.11: Convergence of the tolerance of circumscription while increasing the quality of the input operands, see Table 4.1



Example: Excluding both handles in the tolerance analysis reduction

Let us take a pump, see Figure 4.12, as an example. This pump is mainly composed of two sub-assemblies: the shaft (impeller + the central rotating shaft) and the housing. The housing is made up of two parts joined through three pins and a planar pair. No degree of mobility is permitted between the two parts of the housing, and the joint between them is hyper-static. The proper functioning of the pump depends on the coaxiality between the impeller and the housing.

The topological model of the pump is presented in Figure 4.13, according to the enumeration of the parts and the surfaces. The reduction of the contact graph to simulate the relative position of the handle surfaces (surfaces 3.3 and 1.6, see Figure 4.12) is made as follows:

$$\Gamma_R = \Gamma_{1.0/3.0} \oplus \frac{\lambda_7}{2} \Gamma_{1.6} \oplus \frac{\lambda_8}{2} \Gamma_{3.3}$$

$$(4.11)$$

with,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{1.0/3.0} = &\Gamma_{1.0/3.0_a} \cap \frac{\lambda_1}{2} \Gamma_{1.5/3.2} \text{ with,} \\ &\Gamma_{1.0/3.0_a} = \Gamma_{1.0/2.0} \oplus \frac{\lambda_2}{2} \Gamma_{2.5/3.1} \\ &\Gamma_{1.0/2.0} = &\frac{\lambda_3}{2} \Gamma_{1.1/2.1} \cap \frac{\lambda_4}{2} \Gamma_{1.2/2.2} \cap \frac{\lambda_5}{2} \Gamma_{1.3/2.3} \cap \frac{\lambda_6}{2} \Gamma_{1.4/2.4} \end{split}$$

where each polyhedron operand is defined as

Figure 4.12: Pump: CAD model and enumeration of parts and surfaces


Figure 4.13: Pump: Contact graph

$$\Gamma = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \left\{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{6} : 1 + a_{i_{1}}x_{1} + \dots + a_{i_{6}}x_{6} \ge 0 \right\}$$
(4.12)

According to the proposition Proposition 4.2.2 we can simplify the Equation 4.11 to:

$$\Gamma_R = \Gamma_{1.0/3.0} \oplus \sum_{i=1}^j \Delta_i \tag{4.13}$$

where $\sum_{i=1}^{j} \Delta_i$ are the straight lines of the operands $\Gamma_{3,3}$ and $\Gamma_{1,6}$.

A set of six simulations varying the discretization of the contacts and surfaces where done, see Table 4.5. Figure 4.14 shows the exponential variation on the time while the complexity of the operands increases. In general, an average of 25% of the calculation time was reduced when performing the simulation without handles. Finally, in Figure 4.15 we can see how the tolerance of circumscription converges, and we can see that, for this mechanical system, a set of operands with 10 half-spaces (meaning 5 discretization points on the ball-and-cilinder contacts) gives a good result. Since this example is just illustrative, the value of all λ_i was taken as 0.1.



Figure 4.14: Pump: Calculation time with and without handles

Table 4.5: Pump: Amount of half-spaces for each operand during all the simulations performed.

	1.1/2.1	1.2/2.2	1.3/2.3	1.4/2.4	2.5/3.1	1.5/3.2	1.6	3.3
Simulation 0	6	6	6	102	6	6	6	6
Simulation 1	10	10	10	116	10	10	10	10
Simulation 2	14	14	14	146	14	14	14	14
Simulation 3	18	18	19	170	18	18	18	18
Simulation 4	22	22	22	202	22	22	22	22
Simulation 5	26	26	26	220	26	26	26	26



Figure 4.15: Pump: Convergence of the tolerance of circumscription

4.4 Summary

To model stack-up of deviations by means of operations with polyhedra, it is necessary to discretize the surfaces and contacts in order to create the operands. Choosing the amount of discretization points is not a trivial work since that will impact on the amount of time needed to do the simulations as well as the quality of the result. A rough discretization will generate simpler operands and operations between them will be less expensive in terms of computational resources, however the results that we will obtain are not necessary reliable.

To determine a good discretization of the surfaces and contacts, we proposed to perform a convergence analysis by executing a set of simulations with different sets of operands. The results obtained in the study case show that there is a tendency to converge towards a specific result when the quality of the input operands improves, see Figure 4.11. However, the calculation time increases as operating on SOCs with a bigger amount of facets is more expensive. It worsens after each operation due to the propagation of the facets when summing.

In many cases, the tolerance analysis reduction ends up with a sum between one or more polyhedra plus at least one of the operands related to the handles. In general, this last operation is the most time consuming and can take up to 99% of the complete calculation time. We found that avoiding to add the handles and doing a Minkowski substraction (the functional polyhedron minus the handles) leads to obtain the same results while reducing an average of 9% of the calculation time (in the study case) or 25% in the pump example. The percentage of time reduced depends on the complexity of the last sum, whether if the two handles are added or not, and the dimension in which the sum is performed.

The strategy presented in this chapter, summarized in Figure 4.16 enables the determination of the quality required for the set of operands that describes the surfaces and contacts of a mechanical system to perform the tolerance analysis process. Furthermore, the reduction of the model allows to reduce both the calculation time and memory space required to perform this process. The former allows us to think about



Figure 4.16: Model reduction process

the possibilities of performing tolerance allocation and optimization, since now we can be sure of the quality of the tolerance analysis and the calculation time is acceptable. The example of the pump presented in this chapter, was used in [97] were we presented a sensitivity analysis to determine the influential operands in a tolerance analysis process.

Tolerance allocation and 5 optimization

Tolerance allocation consists in assigning the tolerance values among the important features of a part and/or assembly in order to guarantee functionality and assemblability. Tolerances are assigned most of the time based on expertise or empirical data, leading to choose values that are tighter than required, generating high-quality products but at a high manufacturing cost too [11].

Tolerances have a significant impact on the manufacturing and assembly processes, as well as on the customer satisfaction and product life cycle. Therefore, finding the optimal balance between tight tolerances that ensure high quality and loose tolerances that reduce cost (see Figure 5.1) is a challenging and important task for designers and engineers [98].

Tolerance allocation and optimization consist in assigning a set of tolerances that not only guarantees the functionality of the product, but also allows to achieve some desired objectives such as minimizing the total cost, maximizing the quality, or enhancing the robustness of the product.

In order to solve the problem of balancing cost and quality, several methods have been developed. In [11], the tolerance allocation approaches have been classified on:

- traditional methods
- manual-iterative application of tolerance analysis



5.1	Introduction to	
	the optimization problem	65
5.2	Function to opti- mize: Cost model .	67
5.3	Optimization algo-	60
5.3.1	Simulated anneal-	09
	ing	70
5.3.2	Parameterization .	72
5.3.3	Feasibility of opti-	
	mizing	76
5.3.4	Pre-processing of	
	the input data	77
5.4	Case study: Spec-	
	trometer	78
5.5	Summary	85

Figure 5.1: Quality-cost conflict in tolerance allocation (Reproduced from [11])

quality engineering methods

Traditional methods were developed mostly when there were big limitations on computer technology and/or capability, those methods depend on strong assumptions because of the limited availability of quantitative cost information, hence they are generally employed in preliminary tolerance assignment in early design stages [7]. In the iterative application of tolerance analysis the tolerance values are assigned in a trial and error basis, starting with a set of tolerances and then checking if the quality requirements are met:

- if they are not accomplished tighter tolerances are assigned
- otherwise wider tolerances are chosen and the tolerance analysis is executed again

Iterative approaches are time-consuming and lead to nonoptimal solutions [4, 68]. Finally, quality and statistical methods are used as an alternative to solve tolerance-cost problems on complex mechanical assemblies taking into account the process knowledge. This kind of approaches have been used to do robust design, however they are not applicable to all the mechanisms and do not lead to an optimal result [16].

Tolerance allocation and optimization can be formulated as a mathematical optimization problem that involves the integration of different models and tools, such as tolerance analysis, tolerance-cost models, technical system models, and statistical models [11]. Tolerance analysis is the process of evaluating how the deviations of individual features propagate and affect the overall quality of the product. Tolerance-cost models are mathematical expressions that relate the tolerances to the cost factors, such as machining cost, inspection cost, scrap cost or warranty cost. Technical system models are representations of the physical structure and behavior of the product, such as kinematic models or functional models. Statistical models are used to describe the probability distributions of the deviations and their effects on the quality indicators, such as yield, reliability or robustness. Finally, depending on the complexity and characteristics of the problem, different optimization methods can be applied, such as gradient-based methods, evolutionary algorithms or multi-objective optimization methods.

In Chapter 2, we introduced the tolerance problem and framework as well as the technical system representation.

Once the key features and the contact graph are extracted, the tolerance analysis is used to verify the effects of the defects of each part¹. The tolerance cost-model will translate this information related to tolerances into a cost value that we will search to minimize until a specific value by means of an optimization algorithm. In Section 5.2 we will introduce the cost model that will be used, and in Section 5.3 the optimization algorithm. Finally, Section 5.4 illustrates an application on our study case.

5.1 Introduction to the optimization problem

The general objective of an optimization problem is to search for the solution that best fulfills the design requirements. Thus, the optimization problem can be formulated as the minimization of a cost function f, while keeping a set of constraints expressed as equalities, inequalities and/or boundary limits of the design variables

$$\begin{array}{ll} \min_{x \in \Omega} & f(x) \\ \text{subject to:} & h(x) = 0 \\ & g(x) \le 0 \\ & x_{\min} \le x \le x_{\max} \end{array} \right\} \quad \text{Constraints}$$
 (5.1)

The objective function has to be defined in a way that its minimum provides an optimum configuration for the set of design variables. The design variables are the domain of the objective function and constraints. When the design variables assume values, they model a candidate solution inside the design search space.

In the case of tolerance allocation and optimization, the aim is to find the set of tolerances that will generate an "optimal" compromise between quality and cost while the tolerance specification is fixed [78, 99]. Hence, the tolerances $t = [t_1, \dots, t_I]$ are the design variables of the problem. These design variables are constrained by the lower $t_{i,\min}$ and upper limits $t_{i,\max}$ in compliance with the manufacturing process limits. When the objective function is to maximize the quality Q(t) without exceeding a predefined cost limit C_{\max} , the

1: See Section 2.2 for more information about tolerance analysis and Chapter 3 for information about the tolerance method used on this work



Figure 5.2: Tolerance allocation and optimization cycle

optimization problem is called **best-quality tolerance cost-optimization** and it can be written as follows:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \max & Q(t) \\ \text{subject to:} & C(t) \leq C_{\max} \\ & t_{i,\min} \leq t_i \leq t_{i,\max} \forall i = 1, \cdots, I \end{array}$$
(5.2)

On the other hand, when the objective function is to minimize the cost C(t) while ensuring the fulfillment of the quality requirements Q_{\min} the optimization problem is called **leastcost tolerance optimization** and it goes:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \max & C(t) \\ \text{subject to:} & Q(t) \ge Q_{\min} \\ & t_{i,\min} \le t_i \le t_{i,\max} \forall i = 1, \cdots, I \end{array}$$
(5.3)

The iterative cycle, represented in Figure 5.2, involves tolerance allocation and optimization, specifically least-cost tolerance optimization. In this view, setting the requirements corresponds to defining i) the objective function that represents the cost, as well as ii) the product characteristics and design constraints that are represented as the functional condition of the mechanical system. The tolerance allocation step proposes candidate solutions by assigning values to the design variables while respecting their boundaries. The analysis step evaluates the cost function as well as compliance with the functional condition of the system (tolerance analysis, see Chapter 3). Finally, the evaluation step verifies if the objective function value obtained from the analysis is the minimum and if the quality constraint has not been violated. This cycle is iterated until an optimal solution is found.

5.2 Function to optimize: Cost model

Tolerance cost-functions allow to describe mathematically the relationship between cost and tolerance taking into account empirical and analytically estimated manufacturing and cost information. The former includes a quantification of many variables such as costs for material, tooling, fabrication, assembly, inspection and rejection. Several algebraic functions have been proposed in order to model the tolerance-cost relation [13, 100]. In [11], the authors classify the functions as traditional, non-traditional, and advanced tolerance-cost functions. The traditional functions presented in the literature are the linear, reciprocal and exponential with two up to four parameters [77], see Table 5.1. Non-traditional functions are higher order polynomial functions, or functions deriving from the combinations of the traditional ones, see Table 5.2. Finally, advanced cost functions are generated by more complex models such as hybrid models or artificial and fuzzy neural networks.

The selection of the model type and its fitting parameters depends on the amount and type of data influenced by the given manufacturing process, machine and its settings, feature type, etc. The lack of current and accessible tolerance-cost data makes it hard to parameterize correctly these tolerance-cost

Nama	Coefficient		Eunstion		
Iname	т	k	Function		
Linear	0	-1	$C = a + b \cdot t$		
Reciprocal	0	1	$C = a + \frac{b}{t}$		
Reciprocal squared	0	2	$C = a + \frac{b}{t^2}$		
Reciprocal power	0	С	$C = a + \frac{b}{t^c}$		
Exponential	1	0	$C = a + \frac{b}{e^t}$		
Hybrid	c_1	<i>C</i> ₂	$C = a + b/e^{c_1t} + e^{c_2t}$		



Table 5.2: Non-traditional	Function	Function
Tolerance-cost functions	Linear - Exponential	$C = a + b_1 t + \frac{b_2}{e^t}$
	Reciprocal power - Exponential	$C = a + \frac{b_1}{t^{c_1}} + \frac{b_2}{e^{c_2 t}}$
	Polynomial functions	$C = a + bt + ct^2 + dt^3 + \cdots$

functions. However several research has been done in this regard [77, 85].

In the scope of our work, we propose to use a function that models indirectly the manufacturing cost by using the assumption of "the lower the tolerance, the higher the cost of manufacturing" [10]. Hence the objective is to maximize the value of each tolerance making the mechanical system compliant with the functional condition.

The prismatic polyhedron operands used to model the set of constraints of the toleranced features and contacts live in a 6d space. Thanks to the work presented in Section 3.1.2, we can use the tolerance of circumscription as an indicator to quantify the quality of the inclusion of a resulting polyhedron inside the functional one. When the tolerances of the surfaces and contacts involved in the tolerance reduction process increase, the size of the input operands, as well as the size of the resulting polyhedron and the value of the tolerance of circumscription, will also increase. On the other hand, when the tolerance of circumscription will decrease as well.

If the value of the tolerance of circumscription is bigger than the value of the functional tolerance coming from the requirements specified by the user, the tolerance set used on the tolerance analysis is not compliant with the functional requirement. The objective is to find the set of tolerances that guarantees the tolerance compliance of the system ($\Gamma_R \subseteq \Gamma_{FC}$) while maximizing the value of the each tolerance in the tolerance set. From Equation 3.14 and Equation 3.16, we can write this as:

$$\Gamma_{R} \subseteq \Gamma_{\text{FC}_{\text{circ}}}$$

$$\Gamma_{\text{FC}_{\text{circ}}} \subseteq \Gamma_{\text{FC}}$$

$$\begin{cases} \Gamma_{\text{FC}} = t_{f}[k_{1}.\Gamma_{\text{H}_{1}} \oplus k_{2}.\Gamma_{\text{H}_{2}}] \text{ with } k_{1} \ge 0, k_{2} \ge 0, k_{1} + k_{2} \neq 0 \\ \Gamma_{\text{FC}_{\text{circ}}} = t_{f_{\text{circ}}}[k_{1}.\Gamma_{\text{H}_{1}} \oplus k_{2}.\Gamma_{\text{H}_{2}}], \Gamma_{R} \subset \Gamma_{\text{FC}_{\text{circ}}} \end{cases}$$

$$(5.4)$$

were Γ_{H_1} and Γ_{H_2} come from the handle surfaces:

$$\begin{cases} \Gamma_{\mathrm{H}_{1}} = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{6} : 1 + a_{i_{1}}x_{1} + \dots + a_{i_{6}}x_{6} \ge 0 \right\} \\ \Gamma_{\mathrm{H}_{2}} = \bigcap_{j=1}^{l} \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{6} : 1 + a_{j_{1}}x_{1} + \dots + a_{j_{6}}x_{6} \ge 0 \right\} \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

From Equation 5.4 we can observe that, in terms of the tolerance of circumscription, maximizing the size of the resulting polyhedron inside the functional condition comes to:

$$\begin{cases} \min(t_f - t_{f_{\text{circ}}}) & \text{when: Inclusion: } \Gamma_R \subseteq \Gamma_{\text{FC}} \\ \max(t_f - t_{f_{\text{circ}}}) & \text{when: Non-Inclusion: } \Gamma_R \notin \Gamma_{\text{FC}} \end{cases} (5.6)$$

The two cases in Equation 5.6 can be represented in just one equation either by using an absolute value function or a quadratic function. In optimization, quadratic functions are preferred since the absolute value functions are not differentiable at zero. In conclusion, the function that we are going to optimize in order to find the "best" set of tolerances for the mechanical system is:

min
$$(t_f - t_{f_{circ}})^2$$

subject to: $C_R \subseteq C_{FC}$ (5.7)
 $t_{i,\min} \le t_i \le t_{i,\max} \forall i = 1, \cdots, I$

where, $C_R \subseteq C_{FC}$ represents the constraint of kinematic compliance of the system, see Equation 3.9, and t_i are the contact and geometric tolerances of the system that we are going to determine throughout the optimization process.

5.3 Optimization algorithm

Heuristic methods allow to find the optimal or nearly optimal solution to complex problems what makes them able to handle tolerance allocation problems. The most common meta-heuristic methods include simulated annealing, genetic algorithms, particle swarm optimization, ant colony optimization and tabu search. The main difference between these heuristic methods is the way they move between possible candidate to solutions in order to find the optimal one or a solution close to the optimal [101]. For example, genetic algorithms use genetic operators such as mutation and crossover to evolve a population of candidate solutions inspired by the process of natural selection. Particle swarm optimization is inspired by the social behavior of bird flocking and fish schooling. Ant colony optimization is based on the behavior of ants searching for food. Tabu search is a local search method that uses memory to avoid revisiting previously visited solutions. The application of meta-heuristc algorithms, such as simulated annealing [72, 102], genetic algorithms [103] and particle swarm optimization [104], has become increasingly popular for optimally allocating product tolerances.

Choosing between the best metaheuristic methods depends on the specific optimization problem that is needed to be solved. Simulated annealing, for example, is useful when the solution space is complex and has many local minima because it can escape local minima by randomly accepting a "bad" move. On the other hand, genetic algorithms are useful when there are many possible solutions and when it is difficult to determine which solutions are better than others. They can combine and mutate the best solutions from a population, which allow them to explore a larger solution space [101, 105].

Since in the tolerance allocation problem we expect to have many minimum that can potentially satisfy the objective function, Equation 5.7, in this work we have chosen to use the Simulated Annealing as the optimization algorithm.

5.3.1 Simulated annealing

Simulated annealing is a meta-heuristic technique based on the mechanical annealing process. This process consists in heating a solid and cooling it slowly to remove strain and crystal imperfections by minimizing the free energy of the particles that conform the solid. Similarly, in simulated annealing, a search process starts with a high-energy state (an initial solution) and gradually lowers the temperature (a control parameter) until it reaches a state of minimum energy (the optimal solution) [106].

The simulated annealing was initially proposed by Kirkpatrick et al. [107] and Cerny [108] by applying the Metropolis



Figure 5.3: Simulated Annealing algorithm: general flowchart

criterion introduced in [109]. The basic elements of simulated annealing method include:

- ► The definition of the problem to optimize by defining the energy function, in our case the cost function.
- Setting the initial temperature value and defining the cooling schedule to control the uphill movements during the optimization process.
- Setting the initial candidate solution, in our case this means to define the value of the set of tolerances of the mechanism.
- Computing the energy of the initial candidate solution (evaluate the energy function for the initial solution).
- Randomly perturbing the current solution and accepting this perturbation with a certain probability (using the Metropolis criterion).

Figure 5.3 presents a flowchart with the summary of the basic elements of the simulated annealing. In Section 5.2, we presented the cost function that will be used to calculate the "energy" of each candidate solution. In the following section we will present the parametrization of the cooling schedule, as well as the configuration of the neighboring, for the case

of tolerance allocation and optimization, and some details about the metropolis criterion.

5.3.2 Parameterization

Candidate solution

In the problem of tolerance allocation and optimization, a candidate solution *n* is defined by the set of tolerances of the mechanical system. This set of tolerances is represented the following way:

$$\vec{x}_n = (t_1, \cdots, t_I)$$

where *I* is the total amount of tolerances that need to be set, $t_i \forall i \in \{1, \dots, I\}$ is the value of each tolerance and it can vary in a continuous domain delimited by a minimum $t_{i,\min}$ and a maximum $t_{i,\max}$ value.

Neighboring

For each \vec{x}_n we can define a set of neighbors, and another configuration \vec{x}_{n+1} can be obtained by choosing a random element from the neighborhood. A move represents the various types of alterations that can be carried out. These moves account for the optimization variables of the problem under study. In our case, in order to move to a new possible solution the perturbation will be generated as follows:

$$\vec{x}_{n+1} = \vec{x}_n + \vec{\varepsilon} \tag{5.8}$$

where \vec{x}_{n+1} is the potential new set of tolerances, \vec{x}_n is the actual set of tolerances (or current solution), and $\vec{\varepsilon}$ is a vector with the random variation for \vec{x}_n . All the elements of $\vec{\varepsilon}$ are 0 except one *a* that is chosen randomly and whose value is coming from a normal distribution on $[t_{a,\min}, t_{a,\max}]$:

$$\vec{\varepsilon} = (0, \cdots, 0, a, 0, \cdots, 0)$$
 (5.9)



Figure 5.4: Simulated Annealing algorithm: acceptance criterion

Acceptance criterion

In the simulated annealing algorithm, when minimizing an objective function $f(\vec{x})$, if $\Delta f = f(\vec{x}_{n+1}) - f(\vec{x}_n)$ is negative $(\Delta f < 0)$, the candidate solution \vec{x}_{n+1} is accepted as the new solution and the process is continued with it. On the other hand, if $\Delta f(\vec{x}) \ge 0$, the new solution is accepted with a given probability determined by means of the metropolis criterion. The metropolis criterion is written as [109]:

$$R < \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta f}{T}\right) \tag{5.10}$$

where *R* is a random number coming from an uniform distribution on [0, 1] and *T* is the temperature of the system. If $R < \exp(-\Delta f/T)$ then the candidate solution is accepted and \vec{x}_{n+1} becomes \vec{x}_n , otherwise the candidate solution is rejected. The temperature is a parameter that controls the exploration of the search space and decreases progressively from an initial value to zero.

In tolerance cost optimization, the function to minimize is a cost function *C*, hence:

$$R < \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta C}{T}\right) \tag{5.11}$$

Figure 5.4 illustrates the acceptance criterion for the cost function $C(\vec{x})$.

Cooling schedule

The parameter of temperature used on the metropolis criterion, Equation 5.10, is what allows the simulated annealing to escape from a local minimum and to potentially find a better solution. When the value of the temperature is high, the condition imposed by the metropolis criterion will be more likely to be true, a great percentage of new candidate solutions will be accepted even if they are not better than the former solution (random walk). On the other hand, when the temperature approaches 0, new solutions that are not better than the former solution will have a low or null chance of being accepted, the algorithm will be performing just downhill movements to reach the minimum.

At the beginning of the simulation, the temperature has to be high enough to allow the algorithm to move to different solutions doing a domain exploration, however the temperature has to slowly decrease taking the system to an equilibrium state in which the minimum is found. The cooling process has to be done slowly in order to avoid being trapped in a local minimum. The former implies that selecting and tuning the cooling schedule is an important task for the correct behavior of the Simulated Annealing. In [110], the authors showed that exponential cooling must be preferred over the logarithmic cooling when the available computing time is bounded [111]. The exponential cooling schedule is written as:

$$T_n = T_0 \cdot a^n \tag{5.12}$$

where, T_0 is the initial temperature, n is the number of iterations and a is a constant whose values are typically in between a = 0.99 and a = 0.9. The value of a will define how fast the algorithm passes from a high temperature to a low temperature state, see Figure 5.5.

To choose the value of T_0 , it is necessary to take into account that it has to be high enough in order to be able to explore the domain at the beginning. However, it cannot be extremely high because then the algorithm will spend a lot of time exploring and will take a lot of time to converge. When the





maximum change of the objective function is known, the value of T_0 can be calculated as follows [106]:

$$T_0 \sim \frac{\max \Delta f}{\ln \chi_0} \tag{5.13}$$

were Δf is the maximum change of the objective function and χ_0 is a given probability of accepting an uphill movement. If the maximum change of the objective function is not known, we can do an heuristic approach, starting with a high temperature and reducing it quickly until just the 50% or 60% of the worse moves are accepted. A way of calculating an approximation for the parameter T_0 is performing a set of N iterations and then calculating its value by means of the following relation [112]:

$$T_0 \approx \frac{\overline{\Delta f} + 3\sigma_{\Delta f}}{\ln \frac{1}{\chi_0}} \tag{5.14}$$

where $\overline{\Delta f} = \frac{|\Delta f|}{N}$ and $\sigma_{\Delta f}$ is the standard deviation of Δf . In the case of tolerance cost optimization Equation 5.14 is written as:

$$T_0 \approx \frac{\overline{\Delta C} + 3\sigma_{\Delta C}}{\ln \frac{1}{\chi_0}}$$
(5.15)

5.3.3 Feasibility of optimizing

The optimization process aims to find an optimal or nearoptimal solution for the objective function on a domain. Simulated Annealing can help achieve this goal. However, before engaging in the hard iterative process of finding the optimal solution, it is necessary to guarantee that there exists an actual solution for our tolerancing problem in the given domain. As stated in Section 3.1.2, we can ensure the compliance of a mechanism with a functional condition when using prismatic polyhedra by verifying the tolerance and the kinematic compliance, see Equation 3.10 and Equation 3.9. If kinematic compliance is not ensured, modifying the tolerance values will not make our system meet the functional condition even when using the tightest tolerances. On the other hand, we have to ensure that:

- when using a candidate solution with the minimum value of all tolerances t_i we obtain a resulting polyhedron that is compliant with the functional condition,
- when using the maximum value of all the tolerances the resulting polyhedron is not included in the functional polyhedron.

The first condition guarantees that there is at least one solution that meets the functional requirements, while the second tells us that there is room for optimization. If the polyhedron with the highest set of tolerances is compliant with the functional condition, then the set of tolerances $\vec{x}_n = (t_{1,\max}, \cdots, t_{I,\max})$ is the optimal solution and there is no need to search for another.

In summary, in order to perform the verification of the feasibility of optimizing the tolerances of a mechanical system, two steps must be followed:

- 1. Verification of the conditions to achieve compliance
 - ► It is needed to guarantee the kinematic compliance of a resulting polyhedron inside the functional condition and guarantee the tolerance compliance when $\vec{x}_n = (t_{1,\min}, \cdots, t_{I,\min})$

$$\Gamma_R(t_{i,\min}) \subset \Gamma_{\rm FC} \tag{5.16}$$

2. Verification of the conditions to perform "optimization"

• Guarantee that there is no tolerance compliance when $\vec{x}_n = (t_{1,\max}, \cdots, t_{I,\max})$, Equation 3.10

$$\Gamma_R(t_{i,\max}) \not\subseteq \Gamma_{\rm FC}$$
 (5.17)

The value of $t_{i,\max}$ can be chosen following the general tolerances [113, 114].

5.3.4 Pre-processing of the input data

When doing tolerance allocation and optimization by means of an optimization algorithm, e.g. Simulated Annealing, the tolerance analysis is made iteratively. The former can make the process time-consuming and computationally expensive.

The prismatic polyhedral approach is a method that can be applied to all kinds of contact architectures, regardless of whether they are iso or over-constrained, with or without mobility. The main advantage of this approach is that it works for all mechanisms and the way of applying the method is the same for all. The prismatic polyhedral method is feature-based, hence the discretization of the surfaces plays an important role in the quality of the result obtained with the method. Furthermore, it impacts directly the calculation time because of the increasing amount of half-spaces for each operand and the way they propagate after each operation.

In the optimization process, we must ensure that the operands can accurately represent the system being modeled. To determine the appropriate number of discretization points for the surfaces or half-spaces of the operands, a convergence analysis must be performed before starting the tolerance allocation and optimization process, see Section 4.1. The Minkowski sum of two or more operands has a significant impact on the tolerance reduction time of a mechanism. The Minkowski sum is more time-consuming when the operands have many half-spaces and/or when the affine sub-space in which the sum is performed is high, Section 3.1.1. Once the convergence analysis is complete, we must choose the set of operands that provides a good balance between result quality and calculation time to reduce computation time. Additionally, we propose simplifying the chain of operations by eliminating the last sum (the most complex operation) and performing a subtraction on the operand related to the functional condition, see Section 4.2.

5.4 Case study: Spectrometer

Let us continue with the example introduced in Section 3.2. The pre-processing of the input data, operands, was done in Section 4.3 were we found which is the best compromise between the quality of the result and the calculation time, see Figure 4.10 and Figure 4.11. From the results obtained in the previous chapters, the discretization of the set of operands that will be used to perform the next simulations is presented in Table 5.4.

The tolerance reduction process is made based on the contact graph Figure 3.14, from which we obtained the Equation 3.20 that models the spectrometer. Equation 3.20 depends on 8 variables λ that represent the tolerance or the sum of tolerances of a contact edge in the contact graph. Hence, in the optimization problem each candidate solution will be characterized as:

$$\vec{x}_n = \lambda_i \,\forall i = 0, \cdots, I \text{ with: } I = 7$$

The cost function that is going to be optimized was presented in Equation 5.7, and for this study case it becomes:

min
$$(t_{\rm FC} - t_{f_{\rm circ}})^2$$

subject to: $\lambda_{i,\min} \le \lambda_i \le \lambda_{i,\max} \forall i = 1, \cdots, I$ (5.18)

Where t_{FC} is the tolerance of the handles in the functional condition, and it is equal to 0.4 mm.

Before starting the tolerance allocation and optimization process, the feasibility has to be verified. The condition of kinematic compliance as well as the tolerance compliance when $\vec{x} = \lambda_{i,\min}$ was verified in Section 3.2. When the set of values of \vec{x} are at its maximum, the tolerance compliance must not be achieved in order to be able to perform an optimization process. In the case of the spectrometer, when $\vec{x} = \lambda_{i,\max}$, $t_{\text{circ}} = 0.8$, hence since $t_{cir} > t_{\text{FC}}$ the condition presented in Equation 5.17 is satisfied. Figure 5.6 illustrates the two steps of the feasibility test process, at the left it is possible to see

	min	max
λ_0	0.115	0.5
λ_1	0.61	0.5
λ_2	0.02	0.5
λ_3	0.02	0.5
λ_4	0.02	0.5
λ_5	0.02	0.5
λ_6	0.02	0.5
λ_7	0.02	0.5

Table 5.3: Lower and upper bounds for the λ_i coefficients

Operand	# Half-Spaces
3,7	36
3,4	60
3,5/2,5	18
3,6/2,6	18
2,1/2,12	18
2,2/2,12	18
2,3	80
1.12	72

Table 5.4: Amount of half-spacesfor each opera



Figure 5.6: Verification of the feasibility condition i) left: $\Gamma_R(t_{i,\min}) \subset \Gamma_{FC}$ ii) right: $\Gamma_R(t_{i,\max}) \not\subset \Gamma_{FC}$

that when the set of tolerances takes its minimum value the inclusion is satisfied (figure at the left), and when it takes the value of the maximum tolerances the tolerance compliance is not satisfied.

In order to determine the value of the initial temperature T_0 for the simulated annealing, a set of N = 100 simulations while doing random walk was carried out. The exploration of the domain was done following the Equation 5.8. As a result of those simulations we obtained the following information:

$$\overline{\Delta C} \approx 3.568$$
$$\sigma_{\Delta C} \approx 5.568$$

With the average of ΔC and his standard deviation, we can apply Equation 5.15 when considering an initial acceptance rate of uphill movements of $\chi_0 = 60\%$ we obtain that the initial temperature is:

$$T_0 \approx 40.22 \tag{5.19}$$

It is important to notice that this is an approximate value and, if it is calculated with another set of randomly generated simulations, it may change.

Once the initial temperature is found, the cooling schedule can be parameterized by setting a value of *a*. As shown in Figure 5.5, this parameter will define how fast the temperature decreases and it will have a direct impact on the convergence



Figure 5.7: Results simulated annealing ($a = 0.9 T_0 = 41$)

of our optimization algorithm. If we choose a = 0.9 as the smallest value recommended in the literature, and we consider that our system is cooled at $T_f \approx 1e - 3$, hence we need to do around 100 iterations. If, on the other hand, we decide to choose a = 0.95, around 200 iterations will be needed.

Figure 5.7 presents the convergence result when using this cooling schedule:

$$T_n = 41 \cdot 0.9^n \tag{5.20}$$

In the Cost graph it is possible to see that during the first 30 iterations "bad" solutions are being accepted in order to go out of some local minima. Around the iteration 50 it seems that the algorithm is just going downhill in order to find the best solution. In the last graph of the Figure 5.7 we can see the variation on the value of the $T_{\rm circ}$ and while the algorithm converges to a minimum cost, the tolerance of circumscription approximates the value of the tolerance of the functional condition. At the optimum value found of the cost function $t_{\rm circ} = 0.398$.

Similarly, Figure 5.8 represents the convergence to an optimal

 $\label{eq:simulation} \begin{array}{c} Simulation Time = 605.8 min \\ Intel(R) \ Core(TM) \ i5-8265U \ CPU \ @ 1.60GHz \ 1.80 \ GHz \ (RAM \ 16,0 \ Go) \end{array}$



Figure 5.8: Results simulated annealing ($a = 0.95 T_0 = 41$)

solution while using a cooling schedule:

$$T_n = 41 \cdot 0.95^n \tag{5.21}$$

For this cooling schedule the amount of iterations needed in order to arrive to a convergence is higher since Equation 5.21 decreases slower than Equation 5.20. Since the cooling is slower, the algorithm will be able to explore more the domain but it will take longer to converge to an optimum. In the cost plot of Figure 5.8, we can see how the cost varies almost randomly at the beginning until the iteration 45, and after this, some "bad" solutions are accepted from time to time until the iteration 120 where the solution stabilizes. The graph of the tolerance of circumscription shows how the t_{circ} converges while the cost value decreases, at the end of the optimization process, with the cooling schedule of Equation 5.21, $t_{circ} = 0.401$.

With both cooling schedules the Simulated Annealing managed to find optimal or nearly optimal solutions that maximizes the resulting polyhedron inside the functional one by controlling the value of the tolerance of circumscription

	a = 0.95	<i>a</i> = 0.9
λ_0	0.195	0.282
λ_1	0.174	0.162
λ_2	0.147	0.101
λ_3	0.171	0.034
λ_4	0.184	0.497
λ_5	0.456	0.339
λ_6	0.183	0.167
λ_7	0.084	0.203

Table 5.5: The best solutionfounded with the simulated annealing for each schedule



Figure 5.9: Identification of the λ parameters in the contact graph

through the cost function. In terms of the parameters, the solution found with each cooling schedule is presented in Table 5.5. The values of λ_i can be directly related to the geometrical and dimensional tolerances by means of Equation 3.20. In order to have a better representation of this relation see Figure 5.9.

From a global point of view the architecture of the spectrometer is arranged following a serial configuration between the experience chamber (1), the massive part (2) and the magnetic pole (3). From the Table 5.5, we can observe that in the solution when a = 0.9, the tendency is to control with tighter tolerances the position between the experience chamber (1) and the massive part (1), and to give wider tolerances between the massive part (1) and the magnetic pole (3). On the other hand, in the solution when a = 0.95, tighter tolerances are imposed between the massive part (2) and the magnetic pole (3), relaxing the tolerances between the experience chamber (1) and the massive part (2). In Figure 5.6 it is possible to see that the mechanical system tends to lose the conformity to the functional condition in terms of the rotation with respect $z(R_z)$. Hence, it makes sense that the value of the parameter λ_7 related to the handle surface 3.7 is considerably tight when the tolerances between the magnetic pole (3) and the massive part (2) are relaxed (a = 0.9). Otherwise, the value

	Calculation	a = 0.95	a = 0.9
G _{1,1}	$D_{1,1} + (\lambda_0 + \lambda_6)/2$	145.189	145.224
$G_{1,2}$	$D_{1,2} + (\lambda_0 + \lambda_6)/2$	138.189	138.224
$G_{2,1}$	$D_{2,1} - (\lambda_0 + \lambda_6)/2$	144.811	144.775
$G_{2,2}$	$D_{2,2} - (\lambda_0 + \lambda_6)/2$	137.811	137.775
$G_{2,5}$	$D_{2,5} - \lambda_1/2$	17.913	17.919
$G_{3,5}$	$D_{3,5} + \lambda_1/2$	18.087	18.081
$t_{1,3}$	λ_4	0.184	0.497
$t_{2,3}$	λ_5	0.456	0.339
$t_{2,4}$	λ_3	0.171	0.034
$t_{3,4}$	λ_2	0.147	0.101
t _{3,7}	λ_7	0.084	0.203

Table 5.6: Values for the drawings Figure 5.10, Figure 5.11 and Figure 5.12 (in *mm*)

of λ_7 is bigger when the tolerances between the magnetic pole (3) and the massive part (2) are tighter (a = 0.95).

From the values obtained via the optimization process, in Table 5.6, Figure 5.10, Figure 5.11 and Figure 5.12, we propose to define the value of the tolerances in the technical drawings using the recent update of the standard ISO 2692 [25] by using directly the sizes of the virtual LMC gauges.



Figure 5.10: Experience Chamber Drawing



Figure 5.11: Massive part drawing



Figure 5.12: Magnetic pole drawing

5.5 Summary

In this chapter, we introduced a methodology to perform tolerance allocation and optimization using the prismatic polyhedra method and Simulated Annealing. The prismatic polyhedra method is used to represent the geometric deviations of the components of the mechanism. The simulated Annealing is then used to optimize the tolerances of the mechanical system. As function to optimize we proposed a relation between the tolerance of circumscription of the resulting polyhedron and the tolerance of the functional condition, this function allows to maximize the value of the tolerances of the components while keeping the tolerance compliance of the mechanism.

The tolerance allocation and optimization method proposed makes use of the results obtained in the previous chapters to prepare the operands and to reduce the calculation time in order to obtain accurate results in the least time possible. Figure 5.13 summarizes the steps that are needed to be followed in order to perform the optimization process, the kinematic compliance is the first thing that has to be verified. If it is not achieved it means that the designer made a mistake in the mechanical system and the optimization process cannot be performed. If the kinematic compliance is achieved, a convergence test needs to be carried out in order to find out the discretization of the operands that offer a good compromise between quality of the result and calculation time, see Chapter 4. Once the set of operands is defined, a feasibility test is performed in order to know if the tolerance set can be optimized or not. Finally if the optimization can be carried out, the iterative cycle of optimization is started until an stopping criteria is fulfilled.

The case study presented in the previous chapter is continued in order to illustrate the methodology proposed. The parametrization of the Simulated Annealing algorithm is made by performing a random set of 100 iterations to calculate the initial temperature. Two exponential cooling schedules are used in order to verify the behavior of the optimization process. The results obtained with both cooling schedules seems promising and, in both cases, the difference between the tolerance of circumscription and the functional tolerance is less than 0.002 mm, or 0.5%. Once the optimal solutions



are found there is a direct relation between the result and the tolerances of the surfaces and clearances of the mechanism.

The strategy presented in this chapter allows to find the set of tolerances that makes a mechanical system compliant with a functional condition while maximizing the individual tolerances of the surfaces and the clearances. The former is important because it allows to know the tolerances that can potentially be less expensive and easier to manufacture. An option that has not been explored in this chapter is that instead of searching for the "best" solution we can search for a set of solutions that satisfy a condition, e.g. $C(\vec{t}) < 0.01$, and then the designer can choose the one that fits them more in terms of real cost or the manufacturing process that they have available.

Conclusion and Future Work 6

6.1 Conclusion

In this work, an strategy to perform tolerance allocation and optimization is proposed. The strategy is based on the prismatic polyhedron method and the optimization process is made by means of the Simulated Annealing algorithm.

The prismatic polyhedral approach models the geometrical deviations of the surfaces as well as the contact deviations by means of unbounded sets of constraints (SOCs) that constitute the polyhedra operands. A prismatic polyhedron can be decomposed into the sum of a polytope and a set of straight lines, that represent the unbounded directions. In tolerancing, we decompose this polyhedron directly into a polytope and a set of straight lines that are orthogonal to the subspace in which the polytope lies. The former decomposition allows to find a direct relation between the set of displacement restrictions, and the degrees of freedom of a contact (or the degrees of invariance of a surface) with the polytope and the straight lines, respectively. This approach derives directly from the duality between the wrench screws and the twist screws.

In order to determine whether a mechanical system is compliant or not with a functional condition, it is needed to:

- ► Define the contact graph,
- Generate the geometric and contact operands,
- ▶ Perform the contact graph reduction,
- Verify the inclusion of the resulting polyhedron Γ_R inside the functional one Γ_{FC} .

Before performing the contact graph reduction it is convenient to verify the kinematic compliance of the mechanical system with the functional condition. We proposed to take advantage of the direct relation between the straight lines of the operands and the degrees of freedom to perform the kinematic compliance test. The kinematic compliance test is validated if and only if the set of straight lines of Γ_R is included inside the set of straight lines of Γ_F . If the kinematic

6.1	Conclusion .	•	•	•	•	•	87
6.2	Future work						91

compliance is not satisfied then the mechanism will never satisfy the functional condition whatever the value of the tolerances and the clearances. In such a situation, the designer has to modify the contact graph. If the kinematic compliance is achieved, it makes sense to perform the contact graph reduction by summing (for serial architectures) or intersecting (for parallel architectures) the operands, and then verify the tolerance compliance of the system by determining if the underlying polytope of Γ_R is included inside the polytope of $\Gamma_{\rm FC}$. Since the polytope can live in a 6 dimensional space, quantifying the compliance of the system is not a trivial task, to do so we proposed an indicator that we call the tolerance of circumscription. The tolerance of circumscription (t_{circ}) derives from the coefficient of the homothety applied to Γ_{FC} to circumscribe Γ_R . If the value of $t_{\rm circ}$ is inferior or equal to the functional tolerance, the resulting polyhedron is included inside the functional one (the coefficient of the homothety is inferior or equal to 1). Otherwise, if the value of $t_{\rm circ}$ is superior than the functional tolerance the inclusion of the resulting polyhedron inside the functional one is not satisfied (the coefficient of the homothety is strictly superior than 1).

The prismatic polyhedra approach is feature based, this means that the quality of the operands is highly impacted by the discretisation of the surfaces from which they represent the deviations. Having a rough discretisation may mean that the result is not going to be accurate, but having a very fine discretisation can imply an explosion of the complexity of the operands and the calculation time. In order to solve this problem, we proposed to perform a convergence test in which the tolerance reduction has to be performed for various sets of operands, with discretisation that vary from rough to fine, and the tolerance of circumscription is calculated each time. At the end of this test, the user is able to choose the best set of operands, with the right discretisation, in terms of a convergence criterion for t_{circ} and taking into account the calculation time.

Performing a tolerance reduction for a mechanical system can be computationally expensive, this is the reason why strategies to simplify the process are in constant development. While doing the convergence test, we noticed that the last sum takes most of the calculation time, in the worst cases it can take more than 90% of the total time. The former is due to the complexity of the operands that increases after each Minkowski sum, hence the last sum on the contact reduction is the most complex since it is performed over operands that are the result of more operations. In most of the cases, the last sum can be written as

$$\Gamma_R = \Gamma_A \oplus \frac{t_{H_1}}{2} \Gamma_{H_1} \oplus \frac{t_{H_2}}{2} \Gamma_{H_2}$$
(6.1)

Where Γ_A comes from previous operations, Γ_{H_1} and Γ_{H_2} represent the topology of the operands related to the handle surfaces and t_{H_1} and t_{H_2} are the tolerances of the handles. In order to reduce the complexity of this sum and the computational time required to perform it, we propose to avoid adding the two handles performing a subtraction of those handles on the functional condition instead. By doing so, we manage to decrease the calculation time, on the study case presented the time was reduced by 9%. It is important to notice that the percentage of reduction of the calculation time depends on the dimension in which the last sum is performed and whether the two handles can be removed or not.

Once the kinematic compliance has been verified, the operands with the right discretisation has been chosen and tolerance reduction equation has been defined, it is possible to perform tolerance analysis. Then, tolerance allocation and optimization can be performed knowing that the result that we can obtain will be potentially accurate. Tolerance allocation and optimization can be seen as an iterative process of tolerance analysis in which the tolerances are allocated each time searching to optimize a function that is usually a function of cost, of quality or a cost-quality function. In a general case, we can suppose that the cost is directly related with the tolerances, if the tolerances are tighter the cost is higher. Hence our objective is to maximize the geometrical and dimensional tolerances of the mechanical system while keeping the tolerance compliance, in order to potentially minimize manufacturing costs.

In order to do tolerance allocation and optimization we propose a cost function that relates the tolerance of circumscription with the functional tolerance, and the objective of the optimization process is to minimize the difference. The optimization process is carried out with an algorithm of Simulated Annealing using two different exponential cooling schedules with the same initial temperature. The speed of



Figure 6.1: Complete tolerance allocation and optimization process with the prismatic polyhedral approach

convergence of the algorithm is closely related to the value of the initial temperature, coming from the parametrization, and how fast this temperature decreases during the simulation. With both cooling schedules, we found optimal solutions that have tolerances of circumscription values less than 1% different from the functional tolerance. Due to the nature of the objective function:

$$\min(t_{\rm FC} - t_{f_{\rm circ}})^2 \tag{6.2}$$

for two different values of $t_{f_{circ}}$ the cost value can be the same, leading to solutions that can be slightly outside of the functional condition. However, taking into account that we work in millimeters, being outside the target for $1\mu m$, like in the example, is not significant from a manufacturing point of view.

In summary, along this work we have presented a methodology to perform tolerance allocation and optimization starting



Figure 6.2: Summary: Contributions of this work

from a mechanical system and its 3d nominal representation, CAD model. If this methodology is followed, the designer will be able to know at each step if the process is going well or if there are parameters that need to be revised or adjusted Figure 6.1. The kinematic compliance verification, the capability to find out which is the discretization needed for the operands and finding out which set of tolerances maximizes the resulting polyhedron inside the functional condition are the main contributions of this method, see Figure 6.2.

6.2 Future work

This work leaves open many possibilities for future research regarding the discretization of the nominal features as well as exciting perspectives in terms of tolerance allocation and the selection of manufacturing process:

- As it was shown in Chapter 4, the way the nominal features are discretized plays an important role on the complexity of the operands, hence on the tolerance analysis process, and the tolerance allocation and optimization process with prismatic polyhedra. While we can now evaluate the quality of a result with a given set of operands using an analysis of convergence, it would be interesting to investigate whether the distribution of discretization points on the nominal surface impacts operand quality. This would enable us to have fewer points while strategically positioning them on the nominal surfaces based on the functional condition of the mechanism.
- ► In the direction of tolerance allocation and optimization, it will be interesting to add a function of weighting for the tolerances. This weight could be based on the cost and/or difficulty of the manufacturing process, as well as other criteria defined by the designer. By doing so, the tolerance optimization process would prioritize tolerances related to the most complicated surfaces by assigning them larger values, while tolerances of surfaces that are easy or less expensive to manufacture would be assigned tighter values.
- ► The problem of computational time continues being an important point for future research, and it is even more important now that we need to perform *N* iterations in order to do tolerance allocation and optimization. Since while doing tolerance allocation and optimization just one operand is changing each time, identifying the operations that are kept constant and avoiding to recalculate them can be a key step in order to reduce the overall calculation time. Furthermore, while performing the optimization process, a lot of simulations are being carried out, and it will be interesting to perform some statistical tests in order to verify if it is possible to identify which is the level of influence of each toleranced feature or joint regarding the functional condition

Bibliography

- [1] Gerhard Pahl et al. *Engineering Design: A Systematic Approach*. 3rd. Springer, 2007 (cited on page 1).
- [2] Michael Walter and Sandro Wartzack. 'Statistical Tolerance-Cost-Optimization of Systems in Motion Taking into Account Different Kinds of Deviations'. en. In: *Smart Product Engineering*. Ed. by Michael Abramovici and Rainer Stark. Lecture Notes in Production Engineering. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2013, pp. 705–714. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30817-8_69 (cited on page 1).
- [3] Vijay Srinivasan. 'Computational Metrology for the Design and Manufacture of Product Geometry: A Classification and Synthesis'. In: *Journal of Computing and Information Science in Engineering JCISE* 7 (Mar. 2007). DOI: 10.1115/1.2424246 (cited on page 1).
- [4] Z. Dong, W. Hu, and D. Xue. 'New Production Cost-Tolerance Models for Tolerance Synthesis'. en. In: *Journal of Engineering for Industry* 116.2 (May 1994). Publisher: American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection, pp. 199–206. DOI: 10.1115/1.2901931 (cited on pages 1, 3, 64).
- [5] R. S. Srinivasan. *A Theoretical Framework For Functional Form Tolerances In Design For Manufacturing*. Tech. rep. 1994 (cited on page 1).
- [6] Sandipan Karmakar and Jhareswar Maiti. 'A Review on Dimensional Tolerance Synthesis: Paradigm Shift from Product to Process'. In: Assembly Automation 32 (Sept. 2012). DOI: 10.1108/01445151211262438 (cited on pages 1, 2, 7, 13–15).
- [7] R. Sampath Kumar, V. Soundararajan, and N. Alagumurthi. 'Review of Tolerance Analysis, Allocation and Constraints in Manufacturing'. en. In: *Journal for Manufacturing Science and Production* 10.1 (Mar. 2009). Publisher: De Gruyter Section: Journal for Manufacturing Science and Production, pp. 1–16. DOI: 10.1515/IJMSP.2009.10.1.1 (cited on pages 2, 64).
- [8] Y. S. Hong and T. C. Chang. 'A comprehensive review of tolerancing research'. en. In: *International Journal of Production Research* (Jan. 2002). DOI: 10.1080/ 00207540210128242 (cited on pages 2, 3, 10, 15).
- [9] Dejan Lukić et al. 'Manufacturing cost estimation in the conceptual process planning'. In: *Machine Design* 8 (Sept. 2016), pp. 83–90 (cited on pages 2, 3).
- [10] M. Sfantsikopoulos. 'A cost-tolerance analytical approach for design and manufacturing'. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 5 (1990), pp. 126–134. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02601602 (cited on pages 2, 3, 68).
- [11] Martin Hallmann, Benjamin Schleich, and Sandro Wartzack. 'From tolerance allocation to tolerance-cost optimization: a comprehensive literature review'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 107.11-12 (Apr. 2020), pp. 4859–4912. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-020-05254-5 (cited on pages 3, 14–16, 63, 64, 67).
- [12] David H. Evans. 'Statistical Tolerancing: The State of the Art'. In: *Journal of Quality Technology* 6.4 (Oct. 1974). Publisher: Taylor & Francis, pp. 188–195. DOI: 10.1080/00224065.1974.11980646 (cited on pages 3, 10).
- [13] Kenneth W. Chase and William H. Greenwood. 'Design Issues in Mechanical Tolerance Analysis'. en. In: *Manufacturing Review*, ASME 1.1 (Oct. 1987), pp. 50–59 (cited on pages 3, 10, 14, 67).
- [14] Jami J. Shah et al. 'Navigating the Tolerance Analysis Maze'. en. In: *Computer-Aided Design and Applications* 4.5 (Jan. 2007), pp. 705–718. DOI: 10.1080/16864360.2007. 10738504 (cited on pages 3, 10).
- [15] M Marziale and W Polini. 'Review of variational models for tolerance analysis of an assembly'. en. In: *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture* 225.3 (Mar. 2011), pp. 305–318. DOI: 10.1177/ 2041297510394107 (cited on pages 3, 10).
- [16] Yanlong Cao, Ting Liu, and Jiangxin Yang. 'A comprehensive review of tolerance analysis models'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 97.5 (July 2018), pp. 3055–3085. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-018-1920-2 (cited on pages 3, 10, 64).
- [17] Zhengshu Shen et al. 'A Comparative Study Of Tolerance Analysis Methods'. en. In: *Journal of Computing and Information Science in Engineering* 5.3 (Sept. 2005), pp. 247– 256. DOI: 10.1115/1.1979509 (cited on pages 3, 10).
- Bernard Anselmetti. 'CLIC: A Method for Geometric Specification of Products'. en. In: *Geometric Tolerancing of Products*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2013, pp. 207–239. DOI: 10.1002/9781118587027.ch9 (cited on pages 3, 9–11).
- [19] Paul Clozel and Pierre-Alain Rance. 'MECAmaster: A Tool for Assembly Simulation from Early Design, Industrial Approach'. In: *Geometric Tolerancing of Products*. Journal Abbreviation: Geometric Tolerancing of Products. Jan. 2010, pp. 241–273. DOI: 10.1002/9781118587027.ch10 (cited on pages 3, 10, 11).
- [20] J. K. Davidson, A. Mujezinovic, and J. J. Shah. 'A New Mathematical Model for Geometric Tolerances as Applied to Round Faces'. en. In: *Journal of Mechanical Design* 124.4 (Dec. 2002), pp. 609–622. DOI: 10.1115/1.1497362 (cited on pages 3, 10).
- [21] M. Giordano et al. 'Clearance Space in Volumic Dimensioning'. en. In: *CIRP Annals* 41.1 (Jan. 1992), pp. 565–568. DOI: 10.1016/S0007-8506(07)61269-4 (cited on pages 3, 10, 11).
- [22] 14:00-17:00. ISO 8015:2011. fr. URL: https://www.iso.org/fr/standard/55979. html (visited on 10/30/2023) (cited on page 7).
- [23] 14:00-17:00. ISO 1101:2017. fr. URL: https://www.iso.org/fr/standard/66777. html (visited on 10/30/2023) (cited on pages 7, 30).
- [24] 14:00-17:00. ISO 5459:2011. fr. URL: https://www.iso.org/fr/standard/40358. html (visited on 10/30/2023) (cited on pages 7, 30).
- [25] 14:00-17:00. ISO 2692:2021. fr. URL: https://www.iso.org/fr/standard/74592. html (visited on 10/30/2023) (cited on pages 7, 83).

- [26] 14:00-17:00. ISO 14405-1:2016. fr. URL: https://www.iso.org/fr/standard/65202. html (visited on 10/30/2023) (cited on page 7).
- [27] Santiago Arroyave-Tobón. 'Polyhedral models reduction in geometric tolerance analysis'. English. PhD thesis. I2M: Université de Bordeaux, Nov. 2017 (cited on pages 7, 8, 11, 12, 20).
- [28] Kristina Wärmefjord, Johan S. Carlson, and Rikard Söderberg. 'Controlling Geometrical Variation Caused by Assembly Fixtures'. In: *Journal of Computing and Information Science in Engineering* 16.011007 (Feb. 2016). DOI: 10.1115/1.4032625. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [29] Orzuri Rique Garaizar et al. 'Integration of thermal effects into Tolerancing using Skin Model Shapes'. In: 14th CIRP Conference on Computer Aided Tolerancing (CAT). Goteborg, Sweden, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.02.079. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [30] Samuel Lorin et al. 'Combining Variation Simulation With Thermal Expansion Simulation for Geometry Assurance'. In: *Journal of Computing and Information Science in Engineering* 13.031007 (July 2013). DOI: 10.1115/1.4024655. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [31] Amandine Regis et al. 'Physic-based vs data-based digital twins for bush bearing wear diagnostic'. In: Wear (2023), p. 204888. DOI: 10.1016/j.wear.2023.204888 (cited on page 8).
- [32] Oussama ROUETBI et al. 'ISO Tolerancing of hyperstatic mechanical systems with deformation control'. en. In: Advances on Mechanics, Design Engineering and Manufacturing : Proceedings of the International Joint Conference on Mechanics, Design Engineering & Advanced Manufacturing (JCM 2016), 14-16 September, 2016, Catania, Italy. Ed. by Benoit Eynard et al. Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2017, pp. 991–1000. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-45781-9_99. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [33] Xingyu Yan and Alex Ballu. 'Generation of consistent skin model shape based on FEA method'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 92.1 (Sept. 2017), pp. 789–802. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-017-0177-5. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [34] Zuowei Zhu, Nabil Anwer, and Luc Mathieu. 'Deviation Modeling and Shape Transformation in Design for Additive Manufacturing'. In: *Procedia CIRP*. Complex Systems Engineering and Development Proceedings of the 27th CIRP Design Conference Cranfield University, UK 10th – 12th May 2017 60 (Jan. 2017), pp. 211–216. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2017.01.023. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [35] Yifan Qie and Nabil Anwer. 'Data-driven deviation generation for non-ideal surfaces of Skin Model Shapes'. In: *Procedia CIRP*. 32nd CIRP Design Conference (CIRP Design 2022) - Design in a changing world 109 (Jan. 2022), pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1016/j. procir.2022.05.205. (Visited on 11/04/2023) (cited on page 8).

- [36] Nabil Anwer, Alex Ballu, and Luc Mathieu. 'The skin model, a comprehensive geometric model for engineering design'. In: *CIRP Annals* 62.1 (Jan. 2013), pp. 143–146. DOI: 10.1016/j.cirp.2013.03.078. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 8).
- [37] Jean-Yves Dantan and Ahmed-Jawad Qureshi. 'Worst-case and statistical tolerance analysis based on quantified constraint satisfaction problems and Monte Carlo simulation'. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 41.1 (Jan. 2009), pp. 1–12. DOI: 10.1016/j. cad.2008.11.003. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 9).
- [38] Serge Samper. 'Tolérancement et analyse des structures au service des systèmes souples et du défaut de forme'. fr. thesis. Université de Savoie, Nov. 2007. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 9).
- [39] Lazhar Homri et al. 'Tolerance analysis Form defects modeling and simulation by modal decomposition and optimization'. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 91 (Oct. 2017), pp. 46–59. DOI: 10.1016/j.cad.2017.04.007. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 9).
- [40] Rajneet Sodhi and Joshua U. Turner. 'Relative positioning of variational part models for design analysis'. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 26.5 (May 1994), pp. 366–378. DOI: 10.1016/0010-4485(94)90024-8. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 9).
- [41] Philippe Serré, Nabil Anwer, and JianXin Yang. 'On the Use of Conformal Geometric Algebra in Geometric Constraint Solving'. en. In: *Guide to Geometric Algebra in Practice*. Ed. by Leo Dorst and Joan Lasenby. London: Springer, 2011, pp. 217–232. DOI: 10.1007/978-0-85729-811-9_11. (Visited on 10/27/2023) (cited on page 9).
- [42] Luc Laperrière and Hoda A. ElMaraghy. 'Tolerance Analysis and Synthesis Using Jacobian Transforms'. en. In: *CIRP Annals* 49.1 (Jan. 2000), pp. 359–362. DOI: 10. 1016/S0007-8506(07)62964-3. (Visited on 01/21/2021) (cited on page 9).
- [43] M. Giordano, S. Samper, and J. P. Petit. 'Tolerance Analysis and Synthesis by Means of Deviation Domains, Axi-Symmetric Cases'. en. In: *Models for Computer Aided Tolerancing in Design and Manufacturing*. Ed. by Joseph K. Davidson. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2007, pp. 85–94. DOI: 10.1007/1-4020-5438-6_10. (Visited on 01/13/2023) (cited on page 9).
- [44] J. K. Davidson, A. Mujezinovic, and J. J. Shah. 'A New Mathematical Model for Geometric Tolerances as Applied to Round Faces'. en. In: *Journal of Mechanical Design* 124.4 (Dec. 2002), pp. 609–622. DOI: 10.1115/1.1497362. (Visited on 03/23/2020) (cited on pages 9, 11).
- [45] L. Homri, D. Teissandier, and A. Ballu. 'Tolerance analysis by polytopes: Taking into account degrees of freedom with cap half-spaces'. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 62 (2015), pp. 112–130. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cad.2014.11.005 (cited on pages 9, 11, 19, 20, 23, 34).
- [46] D. Teissandier, V. Delos, and S.C. García. 'Simulating the Respect of a Functional Condition in a Mechanical System with Mobilities'. en. In: *Procedia CIRP*. 16th CIRP Conference on Computer Aided Tolerancing (CIRP CAT 2020) 92 (Jan. 2020), pp. 106–111. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2020.05.195. (Visited on 10/15/2020) (cited on pages 9, 29).

- [47] É Ballot and Pierre Bourdet. *Geometrical Behavior Laws for Computer-aided Tolerancing*. Pages: 153. Jan. 1995 (cited on page 11).
- [48] Hans Johannesson and Rikard Söderberg. 'Structure and Matrix Models for Tolerance Analysis from Configuration to Detail Design'. en. In: *Research in Engineering Design* 12.2 (Oct. 2000), pp. 112–125. DOI: 10.1007/s001630050027. (Visited on 12/14/2020) (cited on page 11).
- [49] Bernard Anselmetti. 'Generation of functional tolerancing based on positioning features'. en. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 38.8 (Aug. 2006), pp. 902–919. DOI: 10.1016/j.cad.2006.05.005. (Visited on 12/14/2020) (cited on page 11).
- [50] Dimensional Control Systems. DCS Quality Solutions | Quality SPC and Tolerance Analysis. en. URL: https://www.3dcs.com (visited on 12/14/2020) (cited on page 11).
- [51] Better Products Through Mechanical Variation Management. en-US. URL: https://www.sigmetrix.com/ (visited on 12/14/2020) (cited on page 11).
- [52] L. Lindkvist and R. Söderberg. 'Computer-aided tolerance chain and stability analysis'. In: *Journal of Engineering Design* 14.1 (2003), pp. 17–39. DOI: 10.1080/ 0954482031000078117 (cited on page 11).
- [53] A. Desrochers, W. Ghie, and L. Laperriere. 'Application of a unified Jacobian-Torsor model for tolerance analysis'. In: *Journal of Computing and Information Science in Engineering(Transactions of the ASME)* 3.1 (2003), pp. 2–14 (cited on page 11).
- [54] A. Desrochers and A. Clément. 'A dimensioning and tolerancing assistance model for CAD/CAM systems'. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 9.6 (1994), pp. 352–361. DOI: 10.1007/BF01748479 (cited on page 11).
- [55] André Clément et al. *The TTRS: 13 Constraints for Dimensioning and Tolerancing*. Pages: 129. Jan. 1998 (cited on page 11).
- [56] Alan Duncan Fleming. 'Analysis of uncertainties and geometric tolerances in assemblies of parts'. en. In: (1988). Accepted: 2013-04-05T10:15:03Z Publisher: The University of Edinburgh. (Visited on 01/09/2023) (cited on pages 11, 12).
- [57] Vincent Delos et al. 'Polyhedral-based Modeling and Algorithms for Tolerancing Analysis'. en. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 141 (2021), p. 103071. DOI: 10.1016/j.cad. 2021.103071. (Visited on 01/08/2022) (cited on pages 11, 12, 20, 21, 31, 42, 45).
- [58] Denis Teissandier, Yves Couetard, and Vincent Delos. 'Operations on polytopes: application to tolerance analysis'. en. In: *Global Consistency of Tolerances*. Ed. by Fred van Houten and Hubert Kals. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 1999, pp. 425–434. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-017-1705-2_43 (cited on pages 11, 19, 20).
- [59] U. Roy and B. Li. 'Representation and interpretation of geometric tolerances for polyhedral objects. II.' en. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 31.4 (Apr. 1999), pp. 273–285.
 DOI: 10.1016/S0010-4485(99)00028-7. (Visited on 01/23/2023) (cited on page 11).
- [60] A. Dumas, J.Y. Dantan, and Gayton N. 'Impact of a behavior model linearization strategy on the tolerance analysis of over-constrained mechanisms'. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 62 (2015), pp. 152–163. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cad. 2014.11.002 (cited on page 12).

- [61] Frédéric Germain. 'Tolérancement statistique tridimensionnel, intégration en CFAO'. fr. PhD thesis. Université de Savoie, Oct. 2007. (Visited on 11/06/2023) (cited on page 12).
- [62] Pierre-Antoine Adragna. 'Tolérancement des Systèmes Assemblés, une approche par le Tolérancement Inertiel et Modal'. fr. PhD thesis. Université de Savoie, Dec. 2007. (Visited on 11/06/2023) (cited on page 12).
- [63] Antoine Dumas. 'Développement de méthodes probabilistes pour l'analyse des tolérances des systèmes mécaniques sur-contraints'. fr. PhD thesis. Ecole nationale supérieure d'arts et métiers - ENSAM, Dec. 2014. (Visited on 11/04/2023) (cited on page 12).
- [64] Edoh Goka et al. 'Probabilistic-based approach using Kernel Density Estimation for gap modeling in a statistical tolerance analysis'. In: *Mechanism and Machine Theory* 139 (Sept. 2019), pp. 294–309. DOI: 10.1016/j.mechmachtheory.2019.04.020. (Visited on 11/04/2023) (cited on page 12).
- [65] J. Peters. 'Tolerancing the Components of an Assembly for Minimum Cost'. en. In: *Journal of Engineering for Industry* 92.3 (Aug. 1970), pp. 677–682. DOI: 10.1115/1. 3427830. (Visited on 08/19/2020) (cited on page 14).
- [66] E. M. Mansoor. 'The Application of Probability to Tolerances Used in Engineering Designs:' en. In: *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers* (June 1963). Publisher: SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England. DOI: 10.1177/ 002034836317800104. (Visited on 08/19/2020) (cited on page 14).
- [67] Salah E. Y. Sayed and Naim A. Kheir. 'An efficient technique for minimum-cost tolerance assignment'. en. In: *SIMULATION* 44.4 (Apr. 1985). Publisher: SAGE Publications Ltd STM, pp. 189–195. DOI: 10.1177/003754978504400404. (Visited on 08/19/2020) (cited on page 14).
- [68] M. P. Iannuzzi and E. Sandgren. 'Tolerance Optimization Using Genetic Algorithms: Benchmarking with Manual Analysis'. en. In: *Computer-aided Tolerancing*. Ed. by Fumihiko Kimura. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 1996, pp. 219–234. DOI: 10. 1007/978-94-009-1529-9_15 (cited on pages 15, 64).
- [69] Angus Jeang. 'Computer-aided tolerance synthesis with statistical method and optimization techniques'. en. In: *Quality and Reliability Engineering International* 17.2 (2001). _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/qre.387, pp. 131–139. DOI: 10.1002/qre.387. (Visited on 08/18/2020) (cited on page 15).
- [70] Chang-Xue (Jack) Feng and Andrew Kusiak. 'Robust Tolerance Synthesis With the Design of Experiments Approach'. en. In: *Journal of Manufacturing Science and Engineering* 122.3 (Aug. 2000), pp. 520–528. DOI: 10.1115/1.1285860. (Visited on 11/04/2021) (cited on page 15).
- [71] P. Muthu, V. Dhanalakshmi, and K. Sankaranarayanasamy. 'Optimal tolerance design of assembly for minimum quality loss and manufacturing cost using metaheuristic algorithms'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 44.11 (Oct. 2009), pp. 1154–1164. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-009-1930-1. (Visited on 08/24/2020) (cited on page 15).

- [72] Chun Zhang and Hsu-Pin (Ben) Wang. 'Integrated tolerance optimisation with simulated annealing'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 8.3 (May 1993), pp. 167–174. DOI: 10.1007/BF01749907. (Visited on 08/24/2020) (cited on pages 15, 70).
- [73] C. Zhang, H. P. Wang, and J. K. Li. 'Simultaneous Optimization of Design and Manufacturing — Tolerances with Process (Machine) Selection'. en. In: *CIRP Annals* 41.1 (Jan. 1992), pp. 569–572. DOI: 10.1016/S0007-8506(07)61270-0. (Visited on 08/21/2020) (cited on page 15).
- [74] P. K. Singh, S. C. Jain, and P. K. Jain. 'A genetic algorithm based solution to optimum tolerance synthesis of mechanical assemblies with alternate manufacturing processes—benchmarking with the exhaustive search method using the Lagrange multiplier:' en. In: *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture* (July 2004). Publisher: SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England. DOI: 10.1177/095440540421800709. (Visited on 11/20/2020) (cited on page 15).
- [75] Babak Forouraghi. 'Optimal tolerance allocation using a multiobjective particle swarm optimizer'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 44.7 (Oct. 2009), pp. 710–724. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-008-1892-8. (Visited on 08/24/2020) (cited on page 15).
- [76] Chi Zhou et al. 'Particle Swarm Optimization for Simultaneous Optimization of Design and Machining Tolerances'. en. In: *Simulated Evolution and Learning*. Ed. by Tzai-Der Wang et al. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, 2006, pp. 873–880. DOI: 10.1007/11903697_110 (cited on page 15).
- [77] Antonio Armillotta. 'Selection of parameters in cost-tolerance functions: review and approach'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* (May 2020). DOI: 10.1007/s00170-020-05400-z. (Visited on 05/27/2020) (cited on pages 15, 16, 67, 68).
- [78] Pradeep K. Singh, P. K. Jain, and Satish C. Jain. 'Important issues in tolerance design of mechanical assemblies. Part 2: Tolerance synthesis'. In: (2009). DOI: 10.1243/ 09544054jem1304b (cited on pages 15, 65).
- [79] W. Elmaraghy, Ziting Wu, and Hoda Elmaraghy. 'Evaluation of Cost Tolerance Algorithms for Design Tolerance Analysis and Synthesis'. In: ASME Journal of Manufacturing Review 1 (Oct. 1988), pp. 168–179 (cited on page 15).
- [80] Kenneth Chase et al. 'Least Cost Tolerance Allocation for Mechanical Assemblies with Automated Process Selection'. In: *Manufacturing review* 3 (Sept. 1999) (cited on page 15).
- [81] Kenneth Chase. 'Minimum-Cost Tolerance Allocation'. In: (June 1999) (cited on page 15).
- [82] Ashiagbor A, Liu H.-C, and Nnaji O. 'Tolerance control and propagation for the product assembly modeller'. In: *International Journal of Production Research* 36 (Jan. 1998), pp. 75–94. DOI: 10.1080/002075498193949 (cited on page 16).

- [83] Thomas Jefferson and C. Scott. 'Quality Tolerancing and Conjugate Duality'. In: Annals of Operations Research 105 (July 2001), pp. 185–200. DOI: 10.1023/A: 1013309716875 (cited on page 16).
- [84] A.K. Sahani et al. 'Design Verification through Tolerance Stack up Analysis of Mechanical Assembly and Least Cost Tolerance Allocation'. In: *Procedia Materials Science* 6 (Dec. 2014), pp. 284–295. DOI: 10.1016/j.mspro.2014.07.036 (cited on page 16).
- [85] Martin Roth et al. 'Toward cost-efficient tolerancing of 3D-printed parts: a novel methodology for the development of tolerance-cost models for fused layer modeling'. en. In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 119.3 (Mar. 2022), pp. 2461–2478. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-021-08488-z. (Visited on 10/02/2023) (cited on pages 16, 68).
- [86] P. Bourdet et al. 'The concept of the small displacement torsor in metrology'. In: Series on advances in Mathematics for Applied Sciences 40 (1996), pp. 110–122 (cited on page 19).
- [87] Lazhar Homri. 'Stratégies de mise en oeuvre des polytopes en analyse de tolérance'. fr. PhD thesis. Université de Bordeaux, Nov. 2014. (Visited on 08/06/2023) (cited on page 20).
- [88] Gunter M Ziegler. *Lectures on polytopes*. English. Verlag New York: Springer, 1995 (cited on pages 20, 24).
- [89] Santiago Arroyave-Tobón, Denis Teissandier, and Vincent Delos. 'Applying screw theory for summing sets of constraints in geometric tolerancing'. en. In: *Mechanism and Machine Theory* 112 (June 2017), pp. 255–271. DOI: 10.1016/j.mechmachtheory. 2017.02.004. (Visited on 01/06/2020) (cited on pages 21, 23).
- [90] Vincent Delos and Denis Teissandier. 'Minkowski sum of HV-polytopes in Rn'. In: 4th Annual International Conference on Computational Mathematics, Computational Geometry and Statistics. Singapore, Singapore, Jan. 2015. (Visited on 08/07/2023) (cited on pages 24, 46).
- [91] R. Schneider. 'Convex Bodies: The Brunn–Minkowski Theory | | Minkowski addition'. In: 1993. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511526282.005 (cited on page 30).
- [92] Edouard Bard et al. 'AixMICADAS, the accelerator mass spectrometer dedicated to 14C recently installed in Aix-en-Provence, France'. en. In: *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms*. The Thirteenth Accelerator Mass Spectrometry Conference 361 (Oct. 2015), pp. 80–86. DOI: 10.1016/j.nimb.2015.01.075. (Visited on 07/11/2023) (cited on page 33).
- [93] V. Delos and D. Teissandier. *PolitoCAT and politopix*. 2017 (cited on pages 37, 39, 47, 54–56).
- [94] Vincent Delos, Santiago Arroyave-Tobón, and Denis Teissandier. 'Model reduction in geometric tolerancing by polytopes'. en. In: *Computer-Aided Design* 100 (July 2018), pp. 69–78. DOI: 10.1016/j.cad.2018.02.003. (Visited on 01/06/2020) (cited on page 45).

- [95] D. Borowska, H. Przybycien, and R. Urbanski. 'On Summands Properties and Minkowski Subtraction'. en. In: *Zeitschrift für Analysis und ihre Anwendungen* 26.2 (June 2007), pp. 247–260. DOI: 10.4171/zaa/1322. (Visited on 12/29/2022) (cited on page 51).
- [96] Jerzy Grzybowski, H. Przybycien, and R. Urbanski. 'On Summands of Closed Bounded Convex Sets'. en. In: *Zeitschrift für Analysis und ihre Anwendungen* 21.4 (Dec. 2002), pp. 845–850. DOI: 10.4171/zaa/1111. (Visited on 12/29/2022) (cited on page 51).
- [97] Sonia C. García, Vincent Delos, and Denis Teissandier. 'Sensitivity analysis for tolerance allocation of over-constrained mechanisms'. In: *Procedia CIRP*. 17th CIRP Conference on Computer Aided Tolerancing (CAT2022) 114 (Jan. 2022), pp. 123–128. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2022.10.018. (Visited on 11/06/2023) (cited on page 61).
- [98] Bor-Wen Cheng and Saeed Maghsoodloo. 'Optimization of mechanical assembly tolerances by incorporating Taguchi's quality loss function'. en. In: *Journal of Manufacturing Systems* 14.4 (Jan. 1995), pp. 264–276. DOI: 10.1016/0278-6125(95) 98879-B. (Visited on 08/18/2020) (cited on page 63).
- [99] Martin Hallmann et al. 'Comparison of different methods for scrap rate estimation in sampling-based tolerance-cost-optimization'. en. In: *Procedia CIRP*. The 15th CIRP Conference on Computer Aided Tolerancing, CIRP CAT 2018, 11-13 June 2018, Milan, Italy 75 (Jan. 2018), pp. 51–56. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2018.01.005. (Visited on 08/20/2020) (cited on page 65).
- [100] K. Chase et al. 'Least Cost Tolerance Allocation for Mechanical Assemblies with Automated Process Selection'. In: 1990 (cited on page 67).
- [101] Absalom E. Ezugwu et al. 'Metaheuristics: a comprehensive overview and classification along with bibliometric analysis'. en. In: *Artificial Intelligence Review* 54.6 (Aug. 2021), pp. 4237–4316. DOI: 10.1007/s10462-020-09952-0. (Visited on 10/09/2023) (cited on pages 69, 70).
- [102] A. Ashiagbor, H.-C. Liu, and B.O. Nnaji. 'Tolerance control and propagation for the product assembly modeller'. en. In: *International Journal of Production Research* 36.1 (Jan. 1998), pp. 75–94. DOI: 10.1080/002075498193949. (Visited on 07/27/2020) (cited on page 70).
- [103] A. Noorul Haq et al. 'Tolerance design optimization of machine elements using genetic algorithm'. In: (2005). DOI: 10.1007/s00170-003-1855-z (cited on page 70).
- [104] Yingfeng Zhang et al. 'Analytical target cascading for optimal configuration of cloud manufacturing services'. en. In: *Journal of Cleaner Production* 151 (May 2017), pp. 330–343. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.027. (Visited on 05/26/2021) (cited on page 70).

- [105] P. K. Sing, S. C. Jain, and P. K. Jain. 'Comparative study of genetic algorithm and simulated annealing for optimal tolerance design formulated with discrete and continuous variables:' en. In: *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture* (Dec. 2005). Publisher: SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England. DOI: 10.1243/095440505X32643. (Visited on 08/21/2020) (cited on page 70).
- [106] Xin-She Yang. 'Chapter 4 Simulated Annealing'. en. In: *Nature-Inspired Optimization Algorithms*. Ed. by Xin-She Yang. Oxford: Elsevier, Jan. 2014, pp. 67–75. DOI: 10. 1016/B978-0-12-416743-8.00004-X. (Visited on 08/31/2020) (cited on pages 70, 75).
- [107] S. Kirkpatrick, C. D. Gelatt, and M. P. Vecchi. 'Simulated annealing'. In: *Science* 220.4598 (May 1983), p. 10 (cited on page 70).
- [108] V. Cerny. 'Thermodynamical approach to the traveling salesman problem: An efficient simulation algorithm'. en. In: *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications* 45.1 (Jan. 1985), pp. 41–51. DOI: 10.1007/BF00940812. (Visited on 11/24/2020) (cited on page 70).
- [109] Nicholas Metropolis et al. 'Equation of State Calculations by Fast Computing Machines'. en. In: THE JOURNAL OF CHEMICAL PHYSICS 21.6 (June 1953), p. 6. DOI: 10.1063/1.1699114 (cited on pages 71, 73).
- [110] Olivier Catoni. 'Rough Large Deviation Estimates for Simulated Annealing: Application to Exponential Schedules'. In: *The Annals of Probability* 20.3 (1992). Publisher: Institute of Mathematical Statistics, pp. 1109–1146. (Visited on 09/01/2020) (cited on page 74).
- [111] Marc C. Robini and Pierre-Jean Reissman. 'On simulated annealing with temperaturedependent energy and temperature-dependent communication'. In: *Statistics & Probability Letters* 81.8 (Aug. 2011), pp. 915–920. DOI: 10.1016/j.spl.2011.04.003. (Visited on 10/17/2023) (cited on page 74).
- [112] Mir M. Atiqullah and S. S. Rao. 'Tuned Annealing for Optimization'. en. In: Computational Science - ICCS 2001. Ed. by G. Goos et al. Vol. 2074. Series Title: Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2001, pp. 669–679. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-45718-6_72. (Visited on 04/18/2022) (cited on page 75).
- [113] 14:00-17:00. ISO 22081:2021. en. URL: https://www.iso.org/standard/72514.html (visited on 11/03/2023) (cited on page 77).
- [114] 14:00-17:00. ISO 2768-1:1989. en. URL: https://www.iso.org/standard/7748.html (visited on 11/03/2023) (cited on page 77).

Alphabetical Index

Acknowledgements, ii Allocation, 13 Analysis, 1, 10, 19

Compliance, 27

Discretization, 45

Handle surfaces, 29

Intersection, 26 ISO, 7, 30, 37, 83

Kinematic compliance, 27

Minkowski sum, 23

Objective Function, 69

Parametric, 11 Polyhedra, 19 Prismatic polyhedron, 21 Pump, 57

Set of Constraints, 11 SOCs, 19 Spectrometer, 33, 53, 78 Synthesis, 1, 13, 45

Technical System, 7 Time-Reduction, 45 Tolerance analysis, 33 Tolerance compliance, 29 Tolerance of circumscription, 30